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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on the GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on the GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
the GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This annual report, for which the directors of Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Group” and the “Directors”, respectively) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBE

As the Chairman and on behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”),
| am pleased to present the audited consolidated result of Jilin Province
Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2023.

During the year under review, the total revenue of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB841,545,000,
it’'s comparable to last year’'s RMB841,586,000. Profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company decreased to RMB148,207,000
from RMB193,565,000 last year. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
basic earnings per share decreased to RMB26.45 cents from RMB34.55
cents last year.

In 2023, the pharmaceutical market was in the backdrop of complex
environment with the rise of difficulties in sales following the adjustment
of pharmaceutical policy, as well as the intensification of cut-throat
market competition. All employees of the Company pressed on and
forged ahead in solidarity, overcame many factors and moved forward
in a steady pace, finally satisfactorily completed the project targets set
at the beginning of the year. The results for the year were the result
of the management’s assessment of the situation and the joint efforts
of all employees. Therefore, the Board is pleased to share with the
shareholders the following competitive advantages of the Company,
which will lead to new achievements for the Company in the coming
years.

1. With emphasis on sales, we persisted in expanding the market
through diverse channels and took strengthening the management
of marketing team and rectifying pharmaceutic market order as
the leverage to further intensify our efforts in academic promotion
and to organize and participate academic conferences in relation
to nephrology at all levels, which maintained the fundamentals
for clinic sales and enabled the steady growth of Sales during the
year. Firmly focused on the sales target of the Hai Kun Shen Xi Jiao
Nang (8RB EB %), our dominant product, we strived to ensure
no loss of existing market, strived to explore uncharted markets.
The increase in the receivables collection ratio for minor drugs such
as Chymotrypsin for Injection (F 57 FEE % H &) and Zhui Feng Shu
Jing Huo Xue Tablet ((BREF & M Fr), laying a solid foundation for
the stronger and better development of single drugs in the future
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBE

The Company emphasized the research and development of
new drugs. We cooperated with a number of pharmaceutical
universities, research institutes and a number of experts in the field
of drug research and development and scholars and increased
investment in developing technologically advanced new drugs, with
independent intellectual property rights. At present, the Company
has reported 22 drugs passing the consistency evaluation, and 4
drugs including Edaravone bulk drugs and preparations passed the
consistency evaluation as at this moment. The Company will strive
to launch these products as soon as possible, providing a new
growth point.

The Company have strictly followed the management regulations of
the “Drug Administration Law” and “Good Manufacturing Practice”,
strengthened management of production sites, established
a rigorous quality control system, applied quality concepts to
production management, and enhanced our efforts in quality
control throughout the production process. In connection with
Company’s strategic development plan, we strictly implemented
production management, enhanced quality, reduced costs,
increased efficiency, so as to guarantee the supply of goods
against rapid growth in sales.

The Company joined hands with Mirable Pharmaceutical
Technology ( # 78 B %% B} $% /A #) to invite industry experts as
teachers to deliver lectures and organize training activities for quality
supervision, assurance staff and all employees of the workshops.
We optimized the quality management system documents of the
Company, improved the business and management capabilities of
managers across all departments, and strengthened the hands-
on skills and capabilities of employees of every position, so as to
ensure the manufacture of high-quality products, meeting the needs
of market and sales, and achieving the high-quality development
goal of the Company.

Focusing on the government’s strategic plan on the development
of healthcare industry and leveraging on the unique geographical
resources, our subsidiaries has carried out healthcare industrial
projects to facilitate sustainable, rapid and healthy development of
the Company.

The Company will continue to explore and adjust its business
strategy, innovate development model, with the aim of pursuing
the path of sustainable development. We give full play to our
technological advantages, increase investment in technology, and
intensify product research and development, so as to capture the
market with our leading technology and high-end products.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBE

7.  The Company adhered to the people-oriented philosophy and
emphasized the building of corporate culture, raised the income
and welfare benefits for the employees to facilitate them to realize
their own values, boost their morale and enhance the teamwork
coherence, with an aim to propel the development of the Company
and better fulfill the corporate social responsibilities.

The Group acknowledges the importance of environmental, social and
corporate governance as key elements in enhancing shareholders’
value. Thus, it is dedicated to improving its policies in compliance
with the respective regulatory requirements and in accordance with
internationally recommended practices. To achieve this aim, the Group
has continuously reviewed its resources, strengthened internal training
and sought professional advice from experts so as to safeguard interests
of the Group and the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

Looking forward, all employees of the Company will seize the
opportunities in solidarity, and continue to uphold the business
philosophy of “focusing on technological innovation and serving the
public and endeavoring in the pursuit of health for people around the
world”. With pharmaceutical quality as the focus, market sales as the
direction, scientific and technological innovation as the basis, and
academic promotion as the strategy, we will continue to expand our
innovation-driven initiatives, pursue the goal of high-quality development,
thus creating greater glories and making new progress in building a
centennial enterprise and for the economic takeoff of Changlong.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt thanks to all
levels of staff and the management for their efforts and contributions in
2023 and my deep gratitude to our clients, business partners and owners
for their utmost support.

By order of the Board
Zhang Hong
Chairman

Jilin Province, PRC
28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN RN

BUSINESS REVIEW

2023 is still an arduous and challenging year for the Company. In
recent years, due to the strengthening of environmental and resource
constraints, the national quality standards and environmental protection
standards for pharmaceuticals have been continuously raised. The
pharmaceutical market is undergoing a complicated environment under
the influence of pharmaceutical policy adjustments, resulting in higher
sales difficulties and exceptionally fierce competition in the market. The
Company overcame many factors and moved forward in a steady pace,
finally satisfactorily completed the project targets set at the beginning of
the year. The results for the year were the result of the management’s
assessment of the situation and the joint efforts of all employees.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the manufacturing and sales of
Hai Kun Shen Xi Jiao Nang (/8 2B = 2%E) continued to be the Group’s
core source of revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue decreased
to RMB841,545,000 from approximately RMB841,586,000 the profit
for the year attributable to owners of the Company decreased to
RMB148,207,000 from RMB193,565,000. For the year ended 31
December 2023, basic earnings per share decreased to RMB26.45 cents
from RMB34.55 cents last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the manufacturing and sales of
Hai Kun Shen Xi Jiao Nang (/8 B = B%) continued to be the Group’s
core source of revenue.

Investments in wealth management products

During the reporting year, the Group subscribed for and held various
short-term investments, from time to time, in the wealth management
products (the “Wealth Management Products”) issued by Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China, Agricultural Bank of China and Bank
of China. The Wealth Management Products were mainly relatively
lower risk of default. The expected annualised rate of return of the
Wealth Management Products subscribed during the year was around
2.5%-3.25% (2022: 1.48%-4.72%), which was relatively higher than the
comparable market bank deposit interest rates.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN RN

As at 31 December 2023, the Company held Wealth Management WR-_Z-=4+_A=+—H AR aHEgE
Products totalling approximately RMB90,608,000. Information of the — BfZEmA 49 AR % 90,608,0007T ° A2 Al 7A
Wealth Management Products held by the Company as at 31 December —Z-=F+_-A=+—ABFAEZEHERZ

2023 is stated as follows: AT -
Unrealised gains Percentage to
on fair value the Group’s
change for the Fair value total assets
Name of the issuer Expected Initial year ended asat asat
of the wealth management Name of the wealth annualised investments 31 December 31 December 31 December
products (the “Issuers”) management products return rate cost 2023 2023 2023

Bz
It g2 EARE
tZA=+-H R=B==%
tEE  RW-B-=% +zA=1-H
BRERBTAZ BRI o 2AAERE  t-A=1-H ZHEE
£B(BIA) BUER &R g% REMA  ZARERNE ZRfE ZAS
(RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)

(NEETT)  (ARETR)  (ARETR)

Agricultural Bank of China “An Xin - 360 Tian" RMB wealth 3.25% 30,000 534 30,534 1.32%
management product

HERERT [%0 - 360K ARB B EmR

Bank of China BOC “Rong Hui Li Cai" wealth 2.50% 10,000 32 10,032 0.43%
management product

EIRIT [ EIRI TR RA R A5 2 |
BHER

Bank of China BOC “Ping Wen Li Cai” wealth 2.60% 10,000 34 10,034 0.43%
management product

(AR TTERE | ENER
HERIT
Industrial and Commercial “ICBC Chao Duangi Faren” 2.60% 40,000 8 40,008 1.73%
Bank of China RMB wealth management product

HE AR [TRBERSEANRSRSER

Total 90,000 608 90,608

At

As at 31 December 2023, the unrealised gains on fair value change #HEZEZT-_=F+=A=+—HIF - ~XEEH
by the Group from the wealth management products as set out above  _EXFTEIZSEMMANEEZ S 2 A BHE RS
amounted to approximately RMB608,000. #358 ARH608,0007T °

EMEEEREECEERDBERAR 9
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN RN

The Issuers are licensed banks in the PRC, which are principally engaged
in the provision of corporate and personal banking and other financial
services in the PRC.

The subscriptions of Wealth Management Products were carried out
by the Group for treasury management purpose in order to maximize
the utilization of its surplus cash received from its business operations,
with a view to achieving balanced yields whilst maintaining high liquidity
and a low level of risks. Taking into account of, among others, the low
level of risks and the expected rates of return, the Group considers that
the subscriptions will provide the Group with better returns than the
returns on deposits generally offered by commercial banks and increase
the Group’s overall earnings in the long run. The Group will monitor
and manage the subscriptions more closely and effectively. As at 31
December 2023, the Group did not experience any losses on the wealth
management products. Further, the subscriptions were funded by the
surplus cash of the Company and are redeemable on demand or highly
liquid, therefore they would not affect the working capital or the operation
of the Group. As such, the Directors are of the view that the subscriptions
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole. The Group will continue to seek opportunities
in utilising its idle cash by investing in appropriate Wealth Management
Products.

During the reporting year, the number of principal guaranteed Wealth
Management Products in the market has been decreasing and the
expected return on Wealth Management Products has been gradually
decreasing, while the annual return rate on long term time deposits is
increasing and making it closer the return between time deposits and
Wealth Management Products. Based on a prudent investment strategy,
the management has changed the direction of investment and used most
of idle funds to invest in time deposits, making even safer for the Group.

The Group has established a Risk Management Committee to strengthen
the assessment and management of investments in Wealth Management
Products and time deposits, and conducts regular reviews of the Group’s
investment projects to control potential investment risks.

Save as disclosed, there were no other significant investments held
during the period under review.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s investments in the Wealth
Management Products were classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss in its consolidated balance sheet, and amounted
to approximately RMB90,608,000 (2022: RMB263,074,000). For
the year ended 31 December 2023, the gain realised by the Group
from the Wealth Management Products amounted to approximately
RMB608,000 (2022: RMB3,074,000). As at 31 December 2023, the
Group’s investment in time deposits, classified as financial assets
measured at amortised cost in its consolidated balance sheet amounted
to approximately RMB937,003,000 (2022: RMB866,856,000).

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN RN

OPERATION REVIEW & E OB

GMP compliance inspection GMPRFE&MRE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has already HZE-ZT-_=F+_-_F=+—HItFE  AQ
obtained GMP certificates for the following: AIEEB U THGMPR A RS

1. Small volume solution, lyophilized powder for injection, Power for 1.
Injection (Cephalosporins), API (Yi Da La Fen) passed drug GMP
inspection, organized by the Provincial Center for Food and Drug
Inspection (certificate no.: JL20190015), valid until 30 January
2024.

2. As at 29 December 2020, small volume solution, lyophilized 2.
powder for injection, powder for injection (Cephalosporins),
sterile API (Cefpiramide, Cefmenoxime Hydrochloride, Cefeprime
dihydrochloride, Cefazedone sodium salt) passed Drug GMP-
compliance inspection, organized by the Provincial Center for Food
and Drug Inspection. The evaluation result is in compliance with the
requirements of GMP (2010).

3. As at 22 June 2022, the production line of the APl Workshop Il 3.
(Edaravone) passed Drug GMP compliance inspection, organized
by Provincial Center for Food and Drug Inspection. The evaluation
result is in compliance with the requirements of GMP (2010).

4, Biochemical pretreatment and extraction production line As at 4.
15 November 2022, biochemical pretreatment and extraction,
Lyophilized Powder for Injection Workshop, Lyophilized Powder for
Injection production line (Chymotrypsin for Injection) passed Drug
GMP compliance inspection, organized by Provincial Center for
Food and Drug Inspection. The evaluation result is in compliance
with the requirements of GMP (2010).

5. On 28 April 2023, tablets from the solid pharmacy production 5.
line of Solid Pharmacy Biochemical Workshop, tablet (Irbesartan
tablet) from the solid pharmacy production line of Solid Pharmacy
Biochemical Workshop, small volume injection solution (non-
terminally sterilized) from small volume injection solution production
line (sharing with small volume solution (hormone) production
line) of Small Volume Injection Workshop Il passed Drug GMP
compliance inspection, organized by the Provincial Center for Food
and Drug Inspection. The evaluation result is in compliance with
the requirements of Good Manufacturing Practice for Drugs (2010
Revision) and its Appendix.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Research and Development (R&D) department is essential for the
future success of a pharmaceutical company. In the past, our R&D
department had successfully developed the medicine, Compound
Huonaoshu capsule, which had generated huge profit to the Group and
finally led to the listing of the Company in Hong Kong. In the year of
2003, our R&D department completed the development of Hai Kun Shen
Xi Jiao Nang, which has now become the largest contributor of revenue
and its revenue reached our target level.

The Group invested approximately RMB31,294,000 in research and
development projects during the year.

PRODUCTION FACILITIES

Small Volume Injection Workshop Il and Small Volume Injection Workshop
Il of the Company put into operation to increase production capacity of
the Company during the year.

Multiple Chinese medicine extraction equipment was added in the
Chinese Medicine Extraction Workshop to increase production capacity
and expand product range.

The consistency evaluation of Edaravone Injection has been passed
and entered into the seventh batch of national centralized procurement.
Irbesartan Tablets, Febuxostat Tablets, Dexamethasone Sodium
Phosphate Injection and Piracetam Injection have obtained registration
approval and put into commercial production.

The product catalogue of the Company is increasing and the
development of drug will enhance R&D and market competitiveness of
the Company.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s recorded revenue
amounted to approximately RMB841,545,000 (2022: RMB841,586,000),
it's comparable to last year. The audited profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company was approximately RMB148,207,000,
representing a decrease of 23.43% as compared with RMB193,565,000
of the previous year. The basic earnings per share amounted to
RMB26.45 cents (2022: RMB34.55 cents), representing a decrease of
RMB8.1 cents over the previous year.

The Board of Directors is pleased with the financial performance in 2023.
It is believed that the maintenance of profitability is attributed to the
following reasons:

1. We placed emphasis on sales and distribution and achieved
breakthrough so as to ensure the rapid growth of sales of our dominant
products and intensity the production and sales of injectable varieties and
invitational varieties, thereby reaching our sales target.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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2. We have regarded drug quality as the lifeline, strictly implemented
the Drug Administration Law and the Good Manufacturing Practice,
enhanced job training, and strictly managed production, laying a solid
foundation for the Group’s steady development.

3. We continued to strengthen academic promotion, enhance our
understanding of clinical performance of various medicines and explore
the unique value of our products while proactively organizing and
participating in academic conferences in relation to nephrology at national
level.

4. We further strengthened our efforts on integrating market resources,
regulated sales practices, strengthened the buildup of sales teams,
adjusted sales strategies, launched various tasks around clinical sales
increment, increased the market share of products, and explored for new
breakthroughs.

5. We have investigated the market demand in multiple fields,
reconstructed the modern production workshops, purchased advanced
production equipment, and resumed production of key varieties to
promote new economic revenue for the enterprise.

6. We enhanced the development of new species, built new R&D
inspection center with complete facilities and advanced inspection
equipment, for new product R&D trials and product quality control to
enhance the Company’s R&D strength.

7. Our subsidiaries have diversified and expanded, stimulated new
economic growth points, opened a new journey of strategic development,
and facilitated the sustainable development of the Group.

8. We strengthened system establishment to fully increase the level of
corporate management, to ensure production of high quality product,
adapt to sales requirement in the market and realize the goal of high
quality development.

The gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately 69.4%, representing a 7.6% decrease as compared with
that of 77% for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded other
income and gains of approximately RMB64,092,000, contrasting to a
figure of RMB59,736,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Distribution and selling costs decreased to approximately
RMB341,938,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 from
approximately RMB404,851,000 in last year. These expenses accounted
for 40.6% of revenue in 2023, which represented a 7.4% decrease from
48% as compared with the corresponding period of last year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, administrative expenses
increased to approximately RMB107,371,000 from approximately
RMB105,098,000 last year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has maintained a sound financial position during this year. As
at 31 December 2023, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted
to RMB352,137,000 (2022: RMB113,601,000) with total borrowings of
RMB80,400,000 (2022: RMB400,000) which were interest bearing at
commercial rates and unsecured. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had total assets of RMB2,318,824,000 (2022: RMB2,372,841,000)
which were financed by current liabilities of RMB725,289,000
(2022: RMB714,594,000), other payable of RMB2,870,000 (2022:
RMB1,961,000), deferred tax liabilities of RMB2,742,000 (2022:
RMB3,022,000) and shareholders’ equity of RMB1,480,380,000 (2022:
RMB1,612,298,000).

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a net cash and cash
equivalents of RMB352,137,000. As at 31 December 2023, the ratio
of the total liabilities to the total assets of the Group was 36% (2022:
32%) which was calculated by dividing the Group’s total liabilities of
RMB838,444,000 (2022: RMB760,543,000) by the Group’s total assets
of RMB2,318,824,000 (2022: RMB2,372,841,000). The Group’s gearing
ratio which derived from the total borrowings to total net assets was
5.43% (2022: 0.02%).

EMPLOYEES

The Company has a total of 848 employees.

Remuneration is determined by reference to market conditions and
the performance, qualifications and experience of individual employee.
Discretionary bonuses based on individual performance will be paid to
employees as recognition of and reward for their contribution. Other
benefits include contributions to retirement scheme and medical scheme.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining
the highest environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. The Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations in relation to its business including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment. The Group
understands a better future depends on everyone’s participation and
contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers, suppliers and
other stakeholders to participate in environmental and social activities
which benefit the community as a whole.

The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees, has
enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided high quality
products and services to its customers so as to ensure sustainable
development.
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EEREREEEGE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Zhang Hong

Aged 69, male, is the Chairman and secretary of the Party committee.
He holds a bachelor degree and is a senior economist. His previous
positions are as follows: He was a teacher and the secretary of Youth
League Committee of Huinan No. 4 Middle School from September
1978 to October 1983; he worked in county and town governments from
November 1983 to September 1989, during which he held the position of
deputy town head; he has been the Chairman, and secretary of the Party
committee of Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company
Limited since October 1989.

Mr. Zhang Hong is the father of Mr. Zhang Yi, our executive director.

Zhang Xiao Guang

Aged 60, male, is an executive director and general manager. He holds
a bachelor degree and is a senior economist. He held the positions of
the secretary of Youth League Committee of Chaoyang Town Engineer
Affairs Equipment Factory of Shenyang Railway Bureau from July 1983
to September 1989; deputy director of Foreign Trade Bureau of Huinan
County from October 1989 to November 1990; executive director
and deputy general manager of the Company since December 1990;
appointed as general manager since January 2015.

Zhao Bao Gang

Aged 57, male, is an executive director and chief finance officer. He
holds a bachelor degree and is a senior accountant. From August 1990
to May 1995, he acted as director of Finance Bureau of Huinan County;
from June 1995 to February 2007, he held the position of director and
equipment executive director and finance officer of Jilin Province Huinan
Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited and was appointed as
executive director and chief finance officer of the Company since March
2007.

Wu Guo Wen

Aged 59, male, is an executive director and deputy sale director. He
holds a master degree and is a senior engineer. From September 1988
to August 1991, he studied in Shanghai Medicine University; from
February 1993 to May 1996, he pursued master degree in Jilin University;
from June 1996 to August 2007, he acted as chief engineer of Huinan
Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company and was appointed as executive
director and chief engineer on 9 August 2007; appointed as deputy sale
director of part of east China since 2010.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
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Zhang Yi

Aged 43, male, is an executive director and executive general manager,
held a Master’s degree. He attended combined Bachelor’'s and Master’s
degree programs in the clinical department of Jilin University for seven
years from September 2000 to July 2007. He studied in the First Hospital
of Jilin University from 2007 to 2008 and took up IMBA courses in Beijing
Jiaotong University from 2009 to 2011. From 2011 to 2014, he worked as
the General Manager in Changchun Changyuan Pharmaceutical Industry.
He has been working in Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy
Company Limited as executive general manager since 2015.

Mr. Zhang Yi is son of Mr. Zhang Hong, the chairman and executive
director of the Company.

Xu Xiang Fu

Aged 54, male, is an executive director and the Deputy Technical General
Manager held a tertiary qualification. He graduated from the School of
Medicine in Jilin, specializing in medicine, and is a senior engineer. He
has been working for Changlong Pharmacy since 1992 and is currently
the Deputy Technical General Manager of the Company. In 2015, he
was awarded two patents for inventing the “Methodology for Retrieving
Fucoidan” and “A Methodology for Retrieving Fucoidan”. In 2016,
he participated in the project of development and application in Hai
Kun Shen Xi Jiao Nang and was awarded the second-tier prize in Jilin
Province Science and Technology Award.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Gao Qi Pin

Aged 72, male, is currently the Professor and Lecturer for Doctoral
students in the research and development centre of Changchun University
of Chinese Medicine. He graduated from Shenyang Pharmaceutical
University with a Master’s degree in 1982. He was the Deputy Dean and
researcher of the provincial Academy of Sciences for Chinese Traditional
Medicine from 1982 to 1998, during which he had been working in
Kitasato Institute Hospital in Japan for two years and obtained the Doctoral
degree after working in the University of Tromsg in Norway for more than
four years. He was the Head of Jilin Provincial Institute for Drug Control
and Secretary of party committee from 1998 to 2006. He is now the
Professor and Lecturer for Doctoral students of Changchun College of
Traditional Chinese Medicine, the Officer of Key Laboratory of Chinese
Medicine Macromolecules in Jilin Province and the Officer of Key Research
Centre for Active Components of Chinese Medicines in the Ministry of
Education. He was the committee member of the eighth, ninth and tenth
Chinese Pharmacopoeia Commission; the National New Drug Appraisal
Expert; Science Advancement Award Appraisal Expert from the Ministry
of Science, the Honoured President of provincial medicine society, senior
associate expert from Jilin Province and the winner of special allowance
from the State Council. He was once the person in charge for more
than 20 national, provincial and divisional projects. He was involved in
the research and development for three new medicines (Infantile spleen-
strengthening oral solution (/) 52 fi& f# O B /& ), Colon Recovery Capsule
(4575 B 52), Ginseng Glycopeptide Injection (A £ # Bi T &7 /&), and
initiated around 100 enhancements of standard revision for medicines,
which have been implemented by our provincial enterprises. He possessed
five invention patents. As the first awardee, he won one top-tier provincial
and divisional prize, three second-tier prizes and a number of participant
prizes. He has reached a leading international level with certification
on the research studies of the structural effect and relationship among
ginseng polysaccharide, tremella polysaccharide, polysaccharide and
microsphere connectors. He was ranked the Outstanding Communist
Party model of the Work Committee for Organs Under Direct Supervision
for twice. His study background and working experience are as follows:
educated youth in remote villages (November 1968 to August 1973); the
student of the medicine department of Shenyang Medical College (August
1973 to October 1976); the pharmacist of the Jilin Provincial Institute
(Baicheng District) for Drug Control (October 1976 to October 1980); the
Master’s degree postgraduate of Shenyang Medical College (October
1980 to December 1982); the Research Assistant, Research Associate,
Researcher, Deputy Head, Head, Deputy Dean of School of Research of
Chinese Medicines of the Jilin Province (December 1982 to March 1998),
and among which: the Research Assistant of Kitasato Institute Hospital in
Japan (August 1986 to August 1988); the Doctoral Postgraduate, Senior
Visiting Scholar and Guest Researcher in the University of Tromsg in
Norway (October 1993 to March 1998); the Senior Pharmacist and Head of
Jilin Provincial Institute for Drug Control and Secretary of party committee
(March 1998 to March 2006); the Professor and Officer of the research and
development centre of Changchun University of Chinese Medicine (March
2006 until now).
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Bai Jun Gui

Aged 60, male. In 1999, he took a part-time postgraduate program of
master of business administration (MBA) at Jilin University and graduated
in June 2002 with a master of business administration (MBA).

In 2003, he took a part-time postgraduate program of doctoral degree in
technical economics and management at Jilin University and graduated
with a doctoral degree in management in June 2007.

From 2015 to present, he has been selected into the expert pool of
senior accountant specialised technique post evaluation of Jilin Provincial
Department of Finance. From July 2017 to present, he has been
appointed by the Jilin Provincial Agricultural Comprehensive Development
Office as Jilin Provincial Agricultural Comprehensive Development Expert
and Performance Evaluation Expert. From September 2017 to present,
he has been appointed by the Jilin Provincial Department of Finance as
an Expert Advisor of Training of Academic Accounting Leaders in Jilin
Province. From 2018 to present, he has been employed by Jilin Mingxing
Accounting Service Co., Ltd. (FME #BE RIS AR AR as a senior
financial management expert. From June 2020 to present, he has been
appointed by Jilin Provincial Department of Culture and Tourism as a
financial management expert advisor. Since 2010, he has been appointed
by several enterprises as an expert on the Engineering Project Evaluation
— Feasibility Study and an expert advisor on Enterprise Internal Control.

Tian Jie

Aged 52, female, holds a bachelor’s degree. Ms. Tian has been working
at Jilin Huifa Law Firm (5 #& 18 3 2 A0 S 75 F7) since March 1993 and
has over 20 years of experience in legal matters. She is currently serving
as the director of Jilin Huifa Law Firm.
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SUPERVISORS

Yan Li Yu

Aged 53, male, held a tertiary qualification. He has been working in Jilin
Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited since 1989
and is now the Superintendent of sales division of Changlong Pharmacy.
He worked in the material division of Changlong Pharmacy from 1989
to 1994. He worked in the marketing and sales division of Changlong
Pharmacy from 1994 to 1996. He worked in the material division of
Changlong Pharmacy from 1996 to 2007. From 2007 until now, he has
been working in the sales division of Changlong Pharmacy.

Qiao Xiao Chun

Aged 48, female, held a tertiary qualification. She has been working in
Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited since
1994 and is now the Workshop Officer of the solid pharmacy workshop
of Changlong Pharmacy. She worked as a supporting staff for Changlong
Pharmacy from July 1994 to January 1997. She was the Sales Manager
stationed in Tianjin for Changlong Pharmacy from 1997 to 2003. She
assumed the position of Superintendent of quality control division of
Changlong Pharmacy from 2003 to 2012. Between 2012 and 2014,
she was the Merchandiser of production supplies division of Changlong
Pharmacy. She was the Deputy Head of production management division
of Changlong Pharmacy from 2014 to 2016. From 2017 until now, she
is the Workshop Officer of the solid pharmacy workshop of Changlong
Pharmacy.

Wang Ying Xu

Aged 40, male, holds an associate degree. He worked in Jilin Huatai
Certified Public Accountants (& #4& =R 25T EHFT) from September
2006 to December 2006. Since 2007, he has been working in Jilin
Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited and now
serves as officer in finance department of the Company.

OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mok Sai Cheong Mark

Aged 43, male, is the qualified accountant and company secretary.
He holds a Bachelor’s degree in accounting. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has over 20 years of
experience in auditing and accounting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of
the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Company was established as a state-owned enterprise in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) in 1989. On 29 December 1995,
under the relevant provisions of the PRC Company Law, the Company
was re-organised from a state-owned enterprise to a limited liability
company. On 16 August 1996, with the approval of the Economic
Restructuring Commission of Jilin Province, the Company was further
converted into a joint stock limited company. On 20 April 1999, the
Company made a bonus issue from capitalisation of retained profits at
the proportion of one bonus share for every two existing shares.

The Company’s H shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 May 2001.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of
Chinese medicines and pharmaceutical products in the PRC under the
brand names of Changlong and Qing Tong. There were no changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

Business review of the Group is set out in the paragraph headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group has only one business segment which is the manufacture and
distribution of Chinese medicines and pharmaceutical products in the
PRC. In 2023, revenue of the Group was generated entirely from sales in
the PRC and all identifiable assets of the Group are located in the PRC.
Accordingly, no business or geographical segmental analysis is prepared
for the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out
in the financial statements on pages 48 to 123.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MHENBE

The following is a summary of the published results and the assets and

ATBAKEE A EREAREERAB M

liabilities of the Group prepared on the basis set out in the notes below. & - J3E N XM FEAEEERR - AFETE
This summary is not part of the audited financial statements. KEZYEmE 2 —F5 o
Results E S5
2023 2022
—E-=F —E_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Revenue WA 841,545 841,586
Profit before income tax R Fr 4S50 A A A 198,829 197,822
Income tax expense Fifgfi (50,107) (3,780)
Profit for the year from ordinary activities REERQEINREREB AFEL
attributable to owners of the Company ABEBE R 148,207 193,565
Assets and liabilities EEREE
2023 2022
—E-=F TETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Total assets WEE 2,318,824 2,372,841
Total liabilities BEE (838,444) (760,543)
Net assets EEFE 1,480,380 1,612,298

BEARER BIOLOGICAL ASSETS, PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE

ASSETS

Details of movements in bearer biological assets, property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets of the Group during the year are set out
in Notes 17, 18 and 23 to the financial statements respectively.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

TREEYEE  WE  BERR

BURETEE

REAR > NEETLR2EMEE WX - BFE

K2 A R BB E 2 B

SRERMIFE17 ~ 18523 °

RN R



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

The Group has made acquisitions of subsidiaries and affiliated companies
during the year ended 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group had no other future plans for material investments or significant
changes in capital assets of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 22 to
the financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group are set out in Note 34 to the
financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The operations of the Group were financed mainly by shareholders’
equity. The Group will continue to adopt its treasury policy of placing the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents in interest bearing deposits, and to
fund operations with internal resources.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and in Note 38 to the financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the reserves of the Company available for
cash distribution or distribution in specie was amounted to approximately
RMB1,244,158,000 (2022: RMB1,479,296,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group sold about 5.5% of its goods to its five largest
customers (2022: 7%) and sales to the largest customer included therein
accounted for 1.7% (2022: 2%) of the Group’s total sales.

In the year under review, the Group’s purchases from the five largest
suppliers accounted for about 28% (2022: 52%) of the Group’s total
purchases and purchases from the largest suppliers therein accounted
for 8% (2022: 32%) of the Group’s total purchases.
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None of the directors of the Company or any shareholders who, to the
best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and five largest suppliers noted above.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group mainly
generated revenue and incurred costs in Renminbi. The directors
consider the impact on foreign exchange exposure of the Group is
minimal. Accordingly the Group did not employ any financial instruments
for hedging purposes.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no capital
commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Directors and Supervisors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Hong (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang

Mr. Zhao Bao Gang

Mr. Wu Guo Wen

Mr. Zhang Vi

Mr. Xu Xiang Fu

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Tian Jie

Mr. Gao Qi Pin

Mr. Bai Jun Gui

Supervisors

Mr. Wang Ying Xu
Mr. Yan Li Yu

Ms. Qiao Xiao Chun

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” of the annual report.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
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DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Listed below are the names of all the Directors who have served on the
boards of the Group’s subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of
this Report:

Zhang Hong
Zhang Xiao Guang
Zhao Bao Gang
Wu Guo Wen
Zhang Vi

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ and Supervisors’ emoluments and those of the
five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in Note 15 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS OR LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the Directors and Supervisors (including the Independent Non-
Executive Directors and the Supervisors) has entered into a service
contract or letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years. None of the Directors or the Supervisors had entered into any
service contract or letter of appointment with the Company which is
not terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS

IN CONTRACTS

No directors had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this directors’
report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provisions being in
force for the benefit of any of the directors of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

IJ‘I“

MEARES
UT AR BRAEENRBESRE ALY
HRELEAEENBAREEOAL -

BN
REEE
HEN
REIX
RE

B EERIVESHALZ
[

B EELAKERUSREHEALZHEH
BEN I IHRRMEES

ESNRESECRBESNHERES

FEFRES(BRELFNTESRES)E
EARBRILRP=F 2REENUREE -
EENEFMERRNRBFTEARATER—
FRRKL B FE X RBERECEEBERIN)
ZRBAEHNHEESE -

EEREERENh 2 #EE

EERNFAMERARASEMBARERS—
TEUAKBNEBBEENEIASNTHES
HEAEENENE SRS

BE HEIER TR

FR - ARFHREMBARREREE -
BOARBER EHES -

B ERTRIEMRX

R B RBEAR B E & RS E AR
BER - B R EE ERRF AR A A SA
AANBARZESAZHAZBETBEGE
SCHR -

HEH

TG B REE(CEERNBERAR
—E=FFR

25



26

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES

At 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors,
supervisors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the minimum standards of dealing

EEREERRONER

RZBZ=F+=-A=+—H ARAEE "
EENTETHAERARR R EEB LE
(m%ﬁ;’f%&ﬁﬁfwﬂ(r B M AIERAI])
EXVER) KD - RS RESFHERRE
BHENMEE ﬂﬂﬁu%%zﬂ*  JBH N RZ AR i
paﬂ%}mzm KA - IREB X TGEMFE S
‘W%EEIJ(FGEML‘W%EHIJD%5 461555 .67 IEFT

by directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the Rules Governing ?5%%?’35?&@ i 78 A AR a] K AP
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing ~ RIS AR AT -
Rules”) were as follows:
Long positions in shares RBROHERE
Percentage of
Type of Number of Percentage of total registered
Director interests Capacity Domestic Shares  Domestic Shares Share Capital
R AR
55 SR 14 RERHE ERERBL WEDL
Zhang Hong Personal Beneficial owner 101,937,000 26.29 18.19
BEIN & A BEHEAA
Zhang Xiao Guang  Personal Beneficial owner 42,315,000 10.91 7.55
SREESE fEA BEHBEAA
Xu Xiang Fu Personal Beneficial owner 5,227,000 1.348 0.933
IRIAIR EA BEHEAA
Wu Guo Wen Personal Beneficial owner 900,000 0.232 0.161
REIX EA BB A
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the B EXFIHBEEN  R-_ZT_=ZF+_A

Directors, supervisors and chief executives of the Company has any
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the minimum standards
of dealing by directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Saved as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and supervisors’
interests in shares” above, at no time during the year were there any
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any director, supervisor and chief
executive or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the directors, supervisors and chief executives to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO
AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than the Directors,
supervisors and chief executives of the Company) had interests and
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO.
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Long positions in Domestic shares RRERNER
Percentage of
Capacity/ Number of Percentage of total registered
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Domestic Shares Domestic Shares Share Capital
R AR
REEH B, Rt RERHE ERERBSL WEDL
Huinan County SAB (Note) Beneficial owner 81,975,000 21.14 14.63

BESRIREBREETRR(MZ) BEalEAA

Note: Apart from the equity interest in the Company, Huinan County SAB does not have any
direct or indirect interest in the Company, including representatives in the Board of

Biet - BRAMEAR AR A RSN  BESIRREEREA
ERARYEEFARRNEMEZKMEES - B

Directors. EEEFSRHRE °

Long positions in H shares RHEBHRE
Percentage of
Number of Percentage of total registered
Name of shareholder Capacity H Shares H Shares Share Capital
(R BT RZA
REEH 14 HER&E HHRBE DL WEDL
Chen Jingwei Beneficial owner 29,520,000 17.11 5.269

BRRIE BEHBEAA

Shen Qianzhen Beneficial owner 13,996,000 8.11 2.498
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors, Supervisors and
Chief Executives of the Company) who had interests and short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group and the
Company were entered into or were in existence during the year.

COMPETING INTEREST

None of the Directors, the management shareholders, the significant
shareholders or the substantial shareholders (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) of the Company had any interest in a business, which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the article of
association of the Company or the laws of the PRC, being the jurisdiction
in which the Company was established, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had no material related party transactions,
which constituted connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.

STAFF RETIREMENT SCHEME

Details of the staff retirement scheme of the Group and the employer’s
staff retirement costs charged to the profit and loss account for the year
are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company set up an Audit Committee on 24 May 2001 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the requirements as set out in
Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and provide supervision over the financial
reporting procedures and internal control system of the Group.

The committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal
controls and financial reporting matters, including a review of the audited
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page
124 of the annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to
the best of the directors’ knowledge, as at the date of this annual report,
there was a sufficient prescribed public float of the issued shares of the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 30 to 40 of the annual report.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to Annual General Meeting of the company
to re-appoint the auditors of the Company, Prism Hong Kong and
Shanghai Limited.

By order of the Board

Zhang Hong
Chairman

Jilin Province, PRC
28 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieve high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interest of its shareholders and enhance
its corporate value. Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this annual report, the Company has complied with
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less than the required standard
of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has also made specific enquiry of all Directors and the
Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the required
standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETINGS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Hong (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang

Mr. Zhao Bao Gang

Mr. Wu Guo Wen

Mr. Zhang Vi

Mr. Xu Xiang Fu

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Bai Jun Gui

Ms. Tian Jie

Mr. Gao Qi Pin

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised nine Directors, six
of whom are Executive Directors, three of whom are INEDs of the
Company. Details of backgrounds and qualifications of each Director
are set out on the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.
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The Board is responsible for corporate strategy, annual and interim
results, succession planning, risk management, major acquisitions,
disposals and capital transactions, and other significant operational and
financial matters. Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board of Directors to the management include the preparation of
annual and interim accounts for Board approval before public reporting,
execution of business strategies, implementation of adequate systems
of internal controls and risk management procedures, and compliance
with relevant statutory requirements and rules and regulations. Executive
Directors are responsible for running the Group and executing the
strategies adopted by the Board. The INEDs serve the relevant function
of bringing independent judgement on the development, performance
and risk management of the Group through their contributions in board
meeting.

All Directors have been given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to hold the
position so as to carry out his duties effectively and efficiently.

The Board considers that each INED of the Company is independent in
character and judgement. The Company has received from each INED
a written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Board meets at least four times each year at approximately quarterly
intervals to discuss the Group’s business development, operation and
financial performance. Board papers are circulated not less than 7 days
before the Board meetings to enable the Directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised at the board meetings. Minutes of
board meetings are kept be the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, other than the family relationship
disclosed in the biographical details of directors and senior management
set out on pages 16 to 20 of this annual report, there is no financial,
business and family relationship among the members of the Board.
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Board meetings
During the year, six regular board meetings were held. Details of the
attendance of the Directors are as follows:

Exees
FR EROTANRAFREFSSH - 2520
EREBIT

Meetings attended/held
Directors X OHE TEITEE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Zhang Hong (Chairman) SROLFEHE(FE) 9/9
Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang SREE ST A 9/9
Mr. Zhao Bao Gang FHE M 5T A 9/9
Mr. Wu Guo Wen REI A 8/9
Mr. Zhang Yi RE LA 9/9
Mr. Xu Xiang Fu RAIKRTTAE 9/9
Independent Non-Executive Directors BB ITEE
Ms. Tian Jie R+ 9/9
Mr. Gao Qi Pin mEmESE 8/9
Mr. Bai Jun Gui BHEELRSE 5/9

Apart from the above regular board meetings of the years, the Board of
Directors will meet on other occasions when a board-level decision on a
particular matter is required. The Directors will receive details of agenda
items for decision and minutes of committee meetings in advance of
each board meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Zhang Hong assumes the role of both the chairman and
the chief executive officer of the Company. The Board is of the view
that this has not compromised accountability and independent decision
making for the following reasons:

- the Audit Committee composes exclusively of Independent Non-
executive Directors;

- the Independent Directors have free and direct access to the
Company’s external auditors and independent professional advice
when considered necessary.
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Mr. Zhang Hong, the chairman, is a substantial shareholder of the
Company and has considerable industry experience. He is motivated to
contribute to the growth and profitability of the Group. The Board is of
the view that it is in the best interests of the Group to have an executive
chairman so that the Board can have the benefit of a chairman who is
knowledgeable about the business of the Group and is most capable to
guide discussions and brief the Board in a timely manner on pertinent
issues and developments to facilitate open dialogue between the Board
and the management.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company appointed INEDs who have appropriate and sufficient
experience and qualification to carry out their duties so as to protect the
interests of shareholders. Mr. Bai Jun Gui, Mr. Gao Qi Pin and Ms. Tian
Jie are the INEDs.

All INEDs are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company. All the existing INEDs are
appointed for an initial term of three years and the term of office shall
continue after the expiration of the initial term until at least 1 month’s prior
written notice is given by either party or the Company to terminate the
same.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Every Director receives comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on
appointment and they are continually updated on developments in the
statutory and regulatory regime, and the business and market changes to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities and obligations under the
GEM Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

To ensure that all Directors’ contribution into the Board remain
informed and relevant, they have participated in continuous professional
development for the year ended 31 December 2023 to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skill. During the year under review, the
Company has provided updates and coordinated training on the GEM
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements to the Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

According to the Code, the Company has set up a Remuneration
Committee on 29 September 2005. As at the date of this report, the
chairman of the committee is Mr. Gao Qi Pin, an INED, and other
members include Ms. Tian Jie, Mr. Bai Jun Gui and Mr. Zhang Hong. The
remuneration committee schedules meet at least once a year and the
quorum necessary for the transaction of business is two.
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The role and function of the Remuneration Committee included the
determination of the specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination
of their office or appointment, and make recommmendations to the board
of the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The remuneration
committee should consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of
performance-based remuneration.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings. The individual attendance records of each
member are as follows:

FNEE S ABRIBREEMANITE
EZREHHES - BREDNE  BRARE R
BENR(BREREXR L REFRLSEE
N ZEMNEE) ARAEETERIERTES
ZHEMEREZ FHZEERZEESER
= PINA R AR N FE EEAELZ
RrfE] Je B AL ~ ARG E AL )7 2 B G ITF R 3%
I FrE < AT

REE-_ZT-_=F+_A=+—HIBEF
B FHNEESRITTMAEE -  SKEZE
R BRI T

Meetings attended/held
Members RE CHE TEITEE
Mr. Bai Jun Gui HEESE 2/2
Ms. Tian Jie A2+t 2/2
Mr. Gao Qi Pin SEMEE 2/2
Mr. Zhang Hong sRIAGE A 2/2

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed matters relating to remuneration for the Directors and members
of senior management, and discussed the remuneration policy of the
Group.

The remuneration committee of the Company has considered and
reviewed the existing terms of employment contracts of the Executive
Directors and appointment letters of the INEDs. The Remuneration
Committee of the Company considers that the existing terms of
employment contracts of the Executive Directors and appointment letters
of the INEDs are fair and reasonable.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee according to
the relevant provisions of the GEM Listing Rules with written terms of
reference. Its primary responsibilities include reviewing and supervising
the framework, number of members and composition of the Board and
making proposals to the Board in respect of any changes and identifying
and nominating suitable persons for appointment of Director.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises of
one Executive Director, Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang and three INEDs, Mr. Bai
Jun Gui, Mr. Gao Qi Pin and Ms. Tian Jie, Mr. Gao Qi Pin is the chairman
of the Nomination Committee.
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Nomination procedures include identification and acknowledgement
of qualified individuals by the Nomination Committee, and review and
approval of such nominations by the Board. The Nomination Committee
will evaluate potential candidates considering factors such as professional
expertise, relevant experience, personal ethics and integrity.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings. During the meeting, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed and discussed the framework, number of
members and composition of the Board. Also, the Nomination Committee
has identified and made proposals in respect of the outstanding
appointment of Executive Directors and INEDs. The individual attendance
records of each member are as follows:

1%
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FHEBEEEA - EEEXEKEE  HELR
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REEFEEHREZEEHILANAE
88

BE-_ZT-_=F+-RA=+—HLUERFE -
RAZBERITTMAER - §LIRREES
BRV R TESERE  KBABRRAEK -
REZEENMUNTES RBIUFRTESEL
R AEER IR R - SREB Z @RI E
FCERINT

Meetings attended/held
Members 54=1 CHE TEITSSE
Mr. Bai Jun Gui AEELE 2/2
Ms. Tian Jie Eafc e 2/2
Mr. Gao Qi Pin SERLE 2/2
Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang RN A 2/2

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2001 and currently comprises
three members, Mr. Bai Jun Gui, Mr. Gao Qi Pin and Ms. Tian Jie. All of
them are INEDs. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Gao Qi Pin.
The Board considers that each Audit Committee has broad commercial
experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in business, legal,
accounting and financial management in the Audit Committee.

None of the members of the Audit Committee has any personal financial
interests, conflicts of interests arising from cross-directorships or day-
to-day involvement in the running of the business. During the year, the
Audit Committee carried out their own independent review of the interim
and annual financial statements and financial reports and statements
included in circulars of the Company published during the year. The Audit
Committee completed its review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Company’s systems of internal control and reported its findings and
recommendations to the Board.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year under review.
Details of the attendance of the audit committee meetings are as follows:

SR EEFEALETT
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Meetings attended/held
Members 54=] EHE BETES
Mr. Bai Jun Gui AEELE 4/4
Ms. Tian Jie Eafci e 4/4
Mr. Gao Qi Pin SERLE 4/4

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and annual audited
results during the year ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed
by the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation
of such results were complied with the applicable accounting standards
and requirements and that adequate disclosure have been made.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited was the auditor of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Other than annual auditing
services, Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited did not provide non-
auditing services to the Company or any of the Group’s companies
during the year.

Auditor’s remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out
in Note 10 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors have the responsibilities for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group and shall ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

The statements of the external auditors of the Company, Prism Hong
Kong and Shanghai Limited, about its reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 42 to 47 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In 2023, the Company Secretary took the relevant professional training of
15 hours relating to general corporate governance issues.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Group has a sound
and effective internal control system. The Group is committed to the
identification, monitoring and management of risks associated with its
business activities and has implemented a practical and effective control
system which includes a defined management structure with limits of
authority, a sound cash management system and periodic review of
the Group’s operation and performance by the Audit Committee and
the Board. The internal control system is reviewed on an ongoing basis
by the Board to ensure it is effective. The Board is satisfied that, based
on information furnished to it and on its own observations, the present
internal controls of the Group are satisfactory. The Board has conducted
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control and is of the
view that the system of internal control adopted for the year is sound and
effective. The Group does not maintain its own internal audit team for
cost-saving reason but the work is shared between related parties in the
Company to assist the Audit Committee to review the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control system.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company disclosed all necessary information to the shareholders
in compliance with GEM Listing Rules. Extensive information about the
Company’s activities is provided in the Annual Report and the Interim
Report which are sent to shareholders. There is regular dialogue with
institutional investors. Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to
their shareholdings and the business of the Company are welcomed and
are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

All shareholders have 45 days’ notice of the Annual General Meeting at
which all directors and Committee chairs are available for questions. All
shareholders are encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards
on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take necessary actions
to ensure compliance with the required practices and standards
including the provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
introduced by the Stock Exchange.

COMPLETION OF INTERNAL CONTROL REVIEW

Reference is made to the statement of disciplinary action published by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
dated 13 June 2023 (the “Statement”) in relation to, among other things,
the direction to Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company
Limited (the “Company”) to conduct a review on the Company’s internal
control for procuring compliance with Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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As directed by the GEM Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange, the
Company shall retain an independent professional adviser to conduct
a thorough review of and make recommendations to improve the
Company'’s internal controls and to ensure compliance with Chapter
19 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has retained Prism
Advisory Limited (the “Internal Control Adviser”) in August 2023 and the
Internal Control Adviser has completed its review on the Company’s
internal controls and review of the Company’s implementation of
its recommendations on the internal controls. The internal control
deficiencies identified in the review and the recommendations of the
Internal Control Adviser are summarised as follows:

1. Management on financial investment business (risk
level: low)
The Company has established an internal control procedure
in respect of its financial investment business (the “Internal
Control Procedure”) since 2016 when it first started to invest in
financial products. According to the review by the Internal Control
Adviser, the Internal Control Procedure has not set out in detail
the requirements on (i) investment planning (e.g. personnel,
purpose, source of funds, budget control and risk management);
(ii) the structure and power of the investment department; (iii)
the monitoring of the investment. The Internal Control Adviser
has also reviewed all relevant information relating to the financial
investment business to confirm the Company has established
management procedure in respect of its investments, but such
procedure has not been documented and incorporated into the
Internal Control Procedure.

The Internal Control Adviser recommended the Company to
update the Internal Control Procedure to incorporate sections
as set out in (i) to (i) above and to update the Internal Control
Procedure on the selection of financial products, investment
analysis, approval process, compliance check, execution of
the subscriptions and redemption process, so as to ensure
consistency between the Internal Control Procedure and actual
execution of the relevant procedure. The Internal Control Adviser
also recommended the management to regularly update the
Internal Control Procedure and to keep proper records.

The Internal Control Adviser has reviewed the updated Internal
Control Procedure and confirmed that its recommendations have
been implemented.
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Procedure on use of Company chop (risk level: low)

The authorised personnel will affix the Company’s chop and
specialised chop for finance to the agreement regarding the
financial product. The Company has established an internal
procedure on use of Company chops. Yet, usage of Company
chops only requires prior verbal application. The Company has
not kept a record of the written approval from management and
the use of its chops. Such arrangement will increase the risk of
inappropriate use of the Company chop.

The Internal Control Adviser recommended that the use of
Company chops should be subject to written approval in
accordance with the requirement of the internal procedure on use
of Company chops and proper record on the written approval
should be kept.

The Internal Control Adviser has inspected the use of Company
chops in September 2023 and confirmed that the Company has
followed the internal procedure in respect of the use of Company
chops.

File management (risk level: medium)

The Company has only kept the investment analysis of the
financial products and the approval record from the Board. The
Company has not kept files of the application for subscription by
the Company’s investment department and files of approval or
reporting from the capital committee, risk management committee
and internal control department. The Internal Control Adviser
recommended the Company to establish financial investment
file archives for safekeeping the approval or reporting records
to facilitate the management to review past investment records.
Such arrangement should be recorded in the Internal Control
Procedure.

The Internal Control Adviser has inspected the transaction
documents for subscription of financial products during the period
from August to September 2023 and confirmed that the Company
has kept proper records.
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Disclosure and management on notifiable transactions
(risk level: high)

The Company has failed to comply with the GEM Listing Rules
requirement in respect of its subscription of financial products
from 2018 to 2020. For most of the breaches in 2019 and
2020, the breaches of the GEM Listing Rules were due to
misunderstanding by the management of the Company of the
Measures for the Supervision and Administration of the Wealth
Management Business of Commercial Bank issued by the
China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission on 26
September 2018. The Company has also failed to aggregate
some subscriptions with the same financial institution and failed
to comply with the relevant disclosure and shareholders’ approval
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

To avoid any non-compliances in the future, the Company has
prepared a compliance manual in respect of subscription of
financial products (the “Compliance Manual”) and provided regular
trainings to the directors and senior management in respect of the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has also
prepared accounts for subscription of financial products, and the
financial controller, company secretary and the department head
of the securities department will jointly monitor the subscriptions
of financial products from the same financial institution and make
monthly report to the board of directors of the Company to ensure
compliance with Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Internal Control Adviser has reviewed the Compliance
Manual to be published in 2023 and confirmed that the relevant
compliance procedure has been incorporated. The Internal
Control Adviser has inspected the training records and confirmed
that the relevant trainings have been conducted. The Internal
Control Adviser has inspected the size test calculation in respect
of investments in financial products from 2022 to 2023 and
confirmed that the Company has complied with the GEM Listing
Rules in respect of the investments. The Internal Control Adviser
has also inspected the accounts for subscription of financial
products and confirmed that the financial controller, company
secretary and the department head of the securities department
have monitored the financial products.

The Board confirmed that all the recommendations of the Internal
Control Adviser has been implemented, and the Company has
complied with all the directions of the GEM Listing Committee set
out in the Statement. The relevant non-compliance incidents and
the related internal control deficiencies identified by the Internal
Control Adviser will be disclosed in the corporate governance
report of the Company for the financial year ending 31 December
2023.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

ExeHssE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF JILIN PROVINCE HUINAN
CHANGLONG BIO-PHARMACY COMPANY LIMITED

(a joint stock limited company incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China with limited liability)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, in accordance with the
Company Law of the PRC, the requirements of the relevant laws and
regulations of Hong Kong and the articles of association of the Company
(the “relevant rules and regulations”), the Supervisory Committee of
the Company exercised conscientiously its authority, safeguarded the
interests of the shareholders of the Company and the Company, and
followed the principle of honesty and integrity and worked cautiously and
diligently.

During the year, we provided reasonable suggestions and advice on
the operations and development plans to the Directors and strictly
and effectively monitored whether the policies of the Company had
conformed with the relevant rules and regulations or safeguarded the
interests of the shareholders of the Company.

After investigation, we consider that the audited financial statements of
the Company give a true and fair picture of the operating results and
asset position of the Company. We also consider that the Report of the
Directors and the profit distribution proposal meet the relevant rules and
regulations. We have attended the meeting of the Board. We are of the
opinion that the meeting was convened in accordance with the relevant
rules and regulations. We consider that the members of the Board,
the general manager and other senior management of the Company
have strictly complied with the principle of honesty and trustworthiness,
worked diligently and sincerely exercised their authority to the best
interests of the Company. None of the Directors, general manager nor
other senior management of the Company have abused their powers,
caused damage to the interests of the Company and infringed upon
the interests of the Company shareholders and its staff, nor have they
violated the relevant rules and regulations.

We are satisfied with the various accomplishments and the cost-
effectiveness of the Company. We are confident that the Company will
have a good prospect of future development.

By order of the Supervisory Committee

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited

Qiao Xiao Chun

Jilin Province, PRC
28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRHERES

Ok

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF JILIN PROVINCE HUINAN
CHANGLONG BIO-PHARMACY COMPANY
LIMITED

(a joint stock limited company incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Jilin Province
Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 48 to 1283, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BAZBMBREE

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Loss allowance of trade receivables, contract assets,

advances to staff and other receivables

Refer to notes 27 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements and

the accounting policies in note 3.

The key audit matter
BRETEE

BRETER
RETFEERBERMNERAE - RRY
AEREAVBREMNBARSERNER
FELSHRERMFAREBSRAMHRER R
AR RRNETREN - RZMTEEHELEHAE
HEBOER -

ESRWERR - BHNEE PmEIBIRK
Hi W IE 2 BE R

FE IR AR B B RS SRR B 5E27 N 28 A IR BI7E3
REETER °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRAWETNAEERRETSE

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s
trade receivables, contract assets, advances to staff and
other receivables are approximately RMB268,327,000,
RMB5,793,000, RMB36,046,000 and RMB8,706,000,
net of accumulated loss allowance on trade receivables,
contract assets, advances to staff and other receivables
of approximately RMB83,753,000, RMB38,228,000,
RMB23,928,000 and RMB82,653,000.
RZBE-_=F+-"A=+—H ' EBEEENEKZFENX"
BREE  MEIRREHMEBRFIEREEI MO/AR
#268,327,0007T + AR #5,793,0007T * A R #36,046,000
TR AR #8,706,0007T © HIBREWE SRR - aHEE -
ME TR RHEAMERFIEN R BEEBEED OARE
83,753,0007T * A R #38,228,0007T * AR ¥23,028,0007T
& AR #82,653,0007T ©

In assessing the loss allowance made under the expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model, the management of the Group used
judgements and estimates to determine the historical credit
loss experience and forward-looking information specific to
the debtors and their economic environments.
RAEHERBETESEEBE([FRBEEER DEXFIRNER
BER . ESEERECRABRAFAEEREEEE
Bk R HERARELBERBOAEEER -

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322

Qur audit procedures were designed to review the
management estimation on ECL model adopted for the
loss allowance on trade receivables, contract assets and
advances to staff and other receivables.
BMNBARFECEFHEREEHEIRLEREN - 60E&
E - mMEIRFRREMEBKRTIAEEREMRANTEREE
B R BRT R -

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology
for the ECL model, development processes and its relevant
controls through review of documentation, discussion with
management of the Group and independent valuer.
HMEBEEAXMRE EXETRERE I (GEM®
EEXREHEEBERER Z7E - #IERF R EBREGE
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BAZBMBREE

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Loss allowance of trade receivables, contract assets,

advances to staff and other receivables (continued)

The key audit matter
BRETEE

ERETEERE(E)
ESRUERR - HEE  MEIBRXRK
HEWGRR 2 BB (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRNETNAEERRETSE

We have identified the loss allowance on trade receivables,
contract assets, advances to staff and other receivables
as a key audit matter because the carrying amounts of
trade receivables, contract assets, advances to staff
and other receivables are significant to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and there is involvement of
a significant degree of judgements and estimates made by
management of the Group.

BRI E ZRR - 6B E - M8 TR KE M BN
HNEREREEERR - HRREAEE  RASEKE SR
T BREE  REIRRREMERFIENREEELAGRE
MEmAEEMsEEAN Bk BEXEEEREELEXR
2R R R AhET

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.

We have challenged the reasonableness of the significant
judgements and estimates, including use of significant
unobservable inputs adopted in the ECL estimation by the
management.

BB EARERAE RMEFT2EBM - BEEREENED
EEEBRGEEPRAZERNT A B RE ABUE -

We have also assessed the appropriateness of the
methodology and examined the inputs data used with
reference to the latest available general economic data and
the repayment record against the Group’s historical trends
and credit loss experience.
HPMEHMEBRTEZER N - WELERHMAIGZE
rEgBE&ALY ESXEBATBEREEEBRERENR
SR EER  BARE -

Hib &
BARERBHAMEREE - AbEREE
HBERFRANES - BTREFEMHERE

Jt)
(f=2

The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRHERES

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRHERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRHERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fung Shing Bun, Spencer.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fung Shing Bun, Spencer

Practising Certificate Number: PO7451

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REREREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE

48

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAREZT)
2023 2022
—E-= —E__F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
et ARET T ARBTIT
Revenue WA 5 841,545 841,586
Cost of sales SHER A (257,499) (193,551)
Gross profit E7 584,046 648,035
Other income HABYA 7 63,484 56,662
Other gains H Az 8 608 3,074
Distribution and selling costs DR HE R (341,938) (404,851)
Administrative expenses THAX (107,371) (105,098)
Profit from operations K g A 198,829 197,822
Finance costs & RS g (519) (477)
Profit before tax FRIERT R A 10 198,314 197,345
Income tax expense FriS iz i 11(a) (50,107) (3,780)
Profit and total comprehensive income for RE S R 2 E W 4258
the year 148,207 193,565
Profit and total comprehensive income BT R RR R 2 E S
attributable to: M
Owners of the Company RARHEB A 12 148,207 193,565
Earnings per share BREF
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —EARAREE(ARED) 12 26.45 34.55

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A N
REMBAARR T
As at 31 December 2023
R-E_=F+_H=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAREZT)
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets FIRBEE
Bearer biological assets TRBEMEE 17 15,080 15,080
Property, plant and equipment W% - B KEAE 18 261,559 296,088
Investment properties B 19 29,200 -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20 48,002 49,116
Construction in progress EEIR 21 4,904 -
Intangible assets B EE 23 21 25
Goodwill B 24 6,254 6,254
Financial assets measured at LA SR NG E R
amortised cost CRIBE 30 724,157 211,405
Deferred tax assets ERERIARE 36 28,506 27,396
1,117,683 605,364
Current assets REBEE
Inventories eSS 25 102,972 132,987
Trade receivables JEUE 5 ERR 27(a) 268,327 282,806
Contract assets BREE 27(b) 5,793 14,688
Other receivables, deposits HEMpEWEIE - fTE Kk
and prepayments TEf IR 28 168,458 304,870
Financial assets at fair value through BASER ABmH
profit or loss TRIEE 26 90,608 263,074
Financial assets measured at PABESHAX NG 289
amortised cost DRIEE 30 212,846 655,451
Cash and cash equivalents R RReFEEY 29 352,137 113,601
1,201,141 1,767,477
Current liabilities REAE
Bank borrowings RITIEK 34 8,000 =
Trade payables FERTE SRR 31 70,582 65,685
Contract liabilities EHaE 15,335 23,947
Other payables and accruals H A e RIE R ERT &R 32 549,963 526,414
Deferred income IR A 35 989 989
Income tax payable FEPTIS TR 16,684 25,660
Other tax payables HAbFES IR 27,947 32,565
Loan from government authority BT E R 33 400 400
Dividend payable FERT RS 35,389 38,934
725,289 714,594
Net current assets REBEEFE 475,852 1,052,883
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAE 1,593,535 1,658,247

ERAREREECEEROBRAT 49
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A N
REMBAARR T
As at 31 December 2023
R-E_=F+_H=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UARMZT)
2023 2022
—EC=F B F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE ARBET T ARBEFIT
Non-current liabilities ERBARE
Bank borrowings RITIER 34 72,000 -
Other payables H At FRIR 32 2,870 1,961
Deferred income PRIEYA 35 35,543 40,966
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE 36 2,742 3,022
113,155 45,949
Net assets EEFE 1,480,380 1,612,298
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS A BEE AEMSL
OF THE COMPANY =
Share capital A&7 37 56,025 56,025
Reserves E 1,424,355 1,566,273
Total equity e 1,480,380 1,612,298

BEM < M T AR S MR R — 87 -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

ZEGAVBRRNR-_ZE-_MF=A=+/\H
EE=SHERIREEM -

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.

ZHANG HONG ZHAO BAO GANG
(LN iizh= i
Director Director
EFE EFE
50 Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AN =
mEEREEXR
For the year ended 31 December 2023
R —F—=Ff+=-—A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAARKZTR)
Statutory
Share Share surplus Retained
capital premium reserve profits Total
R RIDEE ZERHREE RE A @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETE ARETE ARETT ARETR
(Note 38)  (Note 38c(i))  (Note 38¢i))
(H1:238)  (Wiz#55c)  (H1a#38c()
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZ-—"%—HF—H 56,025 51,098 33,242 1,313,384 1,453,749
Comprehensive income 2ENE
Profit for the year AEZERF - - - 193,565 193,565
Total comprehensive income FENELSE - - - 193,365 193,365
Transactions with owners BERRZR S
Dividends declared (Note 14) REER(HiE14) - - - (35,016) (35,016)
At 31 December 2022 and RZBE-_—F+-A=+—HK
1 January 2023 “Z-=%—HF-H 56,025 51,098 33,242 1,471,933 1,612,298
Comprehensive income ZHEKE
Profit for the year AEERH - - - 148,207 148,207
Total comprehensive income FENERE - - - 148,207 148,207
Transactions with owners BERRZR S
Dividends declared (Note 14) REER(HiE14) - - - (280,125) (280,125)
At 31 December 2023 RZBE-_=F+-fA=1+—8 56,025 51,098 33,242 1,340,015 1,480,380

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAARKZTR)
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E_F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kz ARBT T ARET T
Cash from operating activities RETHEEZRS
Profit before income tax FR P45 350 A A 198,314 197,345
Adjustments for: FHEIEE
Interest income | BHA 7 (5,972) (5,369)
Yield gains on financial assets at fair value BRANREFT ABR
through profit or loss & B B B s 7 (4,817) (1,444)
Interest income from financial assets LABESHRS ANETE M 2 Rl
measured at amortised cost BEMF BUA 7 (27,148) (29,938)
Provision for loss allowance of trade B RS R ENE
receivables and contract assets 2 E1aR 10 724 5,993
Provision for obsolete and slow-moving REE R SEE B
inventories 10 9,606 5,038
Interest expenses AEEA 9 515 AT7
Depreciation of property, plant and W% - WENRERETE
equipment 10 26,442 32,423
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREESENE 10 1,114 1,174
Amortisation of intangible assets A E R 4 7
Net gain on financial assets at fair value BARER AB=mA
through profit or loss BENE E R F I 8 (608) (3,074)
Loss allowance on other receivables H At fEUGRIA 2 E18
10 43,232 7,977
Government subsidies IEg g 7 (17,216) (504)
Recognition of deferred income HERIRAE YA 7 (5,423) (1,582)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWZE - BE R&
equipment it 10 60 15,686
Loss on revaluation on property, plant and M - BENRREL
equipment HhEE 10 5,389 =
Changes in fair value of investment BEMEZ NAEZ
properties 10 355 =
Operating cash flows before working capital &8 & ¢ & B) i 2 AL &
changes HEmE 224,571 224,109
Decrease/(increase) in inventories &R,/ (80) 20,408 (61,712)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEUE B ERFRR A, (3 00) 5,464 (62,195)
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 17,186 10,750
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, HAEWEIA - ]2 &
deposits and prepayments B RER A, () 93,180 (23,580)
Increase in trade payables FERTE 5 BRI N 4,897 14,350
Increase in other payables and accruals HAab I sa R ERT & R
N 24,460 122,526
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities BHBEECRD) (8,612 8,725
Decrease in other tax payables H AR IER (4,620) (1,218)
Cash generated from operations KEXBEE RS 376,934 241,755
Income tax paid BIEEE (60,472) (37,293)
Interest paid ERFE (515) (470)
Net cash generated from operating RETBHEEZRESFHE
activities 315,947 203,992

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

REBRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

£ " - 3
- - -

HEr—FT-—=F+-_A=1—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)
2023 2022
—EBEC-=HF —E__F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT

Cash flows from investing activities REXEBEEZEESRE
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BEERAAEABRN

through profit or loss TREEE (170,000) (300,000)
Increase in financial assets measured at LA SER NG TEM SR E =

amortised cost 0 (43,000) (30,000)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEEW¥ - BE RREMEETRR

and construction-in-progress (31,841) (11,317)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEYE - BERZEBRIE

and equipment 20 -
Proceeds from settlement of financial assets &R A o EzE AIBZEH

at fair value through profit or loss T RVE EFTS KA 347,892 217,977
Interest received BUF B 5,972 5,369
Net cash generated from/(used in) REXBELE (FR)ZRLFE

investing activities 109,043 (117,971)
Cash flows from financing activities MEXEBELECHESRE
Proceeds from government subsidies TR # B P15 50 E 17,216 504
Dividend paid BERRE (283,670) (28,218)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITE TS RIA 80,000 -
Net cash used in financing activities BEXKEFARSFE (186,454) (27,714)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents R&RELZSEYIEINFEE 238,536 58,307
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FHMHRERRESEY

year 113,601 55,294
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FREERREZEY 352,137 118,601
Analysis of the balance of cash and HeRBESEEWESRDNT

cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHE R 352,137 113,601

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
(the “Company”) was established as a state-owned enterprise
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) in 1989. On 29
December 1995, under the relevant provisions of the Company
Law of the PRC, the Company was re-organised from a state-
owned enterprise to a limited liability company. On 16 August 1996,
with the approval of the Economic Restructuring Commission of
Jilin Province, the Company was further converted into a joint stock
limited company. On 20 April 1999, the Company made a bonus
issue from capitalisation of retained profits in the proportion of one
bonus share for every two existing shares.

The Company’s H shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 May
2001.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution
of Chinese medicines and pharmaceutical products in the PRC
under the brand names of Changlong and Qing Tong. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 22.

The legal address and the principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to the
annual report.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020

and February 2022

Amendments to

HKFRS 17)

Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates

HKAS 8
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to International Tax Reform-Pillar Two
HKAS 12 model Rules

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

R RSB B RV ER
R (HFEMHREER )

RAFERBERZFET REIETE
B RS A

RAFE  ANEEERERTIHES
SRMAE([EBGTAAE])BMHIT
RAEEBE-—ZT-_=F—A—HHAKHN
FEHRE R E BT REIEFT BB
BTSSR S 2E R AR AR & B T SRR

BEMBMERER  REREA
F1TR(BEZ
—EFETARZ
T__F_AF
BB TR 5 R R

FATHRERTA))
BRGFERIESY 212 HEE

CHEN)
BEEER FREE—XZHE
F125R (BETA) ER B EA1ER
EREFIA
BEEER BB IB R —
ESPLACCHEN) = 1REH A
EBSHERESR DI HEAIKE
BB HRE
R BFRE
F2RUBFTA)

BT XA &SN RAFERBHAT R
RIET BBV REEAL EH AN EE
RAFEFBEFE ZHBARRERR
%/ SR EGA M B mRAE 2 K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is
amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments also clarify that accounting
policy information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial performance and positions, but has affected
the disclosures of accounting policies as set out in note 3.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to

HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to

HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

a Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the
application of all amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable

future.

R RS BBV BR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for financial instruments and
investment properties that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FHEGSHBEBREINEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFTHRER (E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EXEFHEER

Basis of consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of
consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case
of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of financial position at cost less any identified
impairment loss. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Biological assets

Biological assets are living animals and plants managed by
the Group which is involved in the agricultural activities of the
transformation of biological assets for sale or into agricultural
product.

Biological assets are measured at fair value less estimated
point-of-sale costs at initial recognition and at the end of each
reporting period. The fair value of these biological assets is
determined based on active market prices in the local market
with reference to comparable age, breed and genetic merit.
The gain or loss arising on initial recognition and subsequent
changes in fair values less estimated point-of-sale costs of
biological assets is recognised in statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income in the period in which it
arise. Biological assets that are in the stage of cultivation or
do not have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the
assets carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs or revalued amounts to their residual value
over their estimated useful lives. The assets’ residual values
and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. The principal annual rates
are as follows:

Buildings 10 to 30 years
Plant and machinery 6 years
Transportation equipment 8 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on the disposal are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

If a property becomes an investment property because its
use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any difference between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified
as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Investment property

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purposes). Investment properties
include land held for undetermined future use, which is
regarded as held for capital appreciation purpose. Investment
properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases. Investment properties are
initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the period in which they

arise.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FHEGSHBEBREINEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFTHRER (E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

3.2 ERETHEHRER(H)

Leases (continued) HE (&)
Group as a lessee (continued) AREFERATN (1)
Right-of-use assets EREEE

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated over the lease term of the leasehold land.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents buildings, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation, and
is stated at historical cost less any impairment losses. No
depreciation is made on construction in progress until such
time as the relevant property, plants and equipment are
available for use. Cost comprises all construction expenditure
and other direct costs of construction. Construction in
progress is transferred to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when the asset being
constructed becomes available to use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Intangible assets

(i)

(i)

Purchased know-how and prescription

Purchased know-how and prescription are stated
at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives,
which range from 5 to 12 years from the date of
commercial production. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the financial period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if
the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the
intention to complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes the costs of materials, direct labour,
and appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable. Capitalised development
costs are stated at historical cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation
begins when development is completed and the assets
is available for use. Other development expenditure
is recognised as an expense in the financial period in
which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FHEGSHBEBREINEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFTHRER (E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

3.2 EXRETEHRER(HE)

Intangible assets (continued)

(i)  Purchased in-process research and development
assets acquired through separate purchase
In-process research and development assets acquired
through separate purchase are recognised as intangible
assets at historical cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses.

Amortisation and impairment assessment are
accounted for in a similar manner as internal
development expenditure set out in (i) above.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example,
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use — are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial assets

(i)

(i)

(i)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

— those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income
(“OCI”) or through profit or loss), and

- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”).

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(i)  Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments
The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL
are recognised in other losses in the statement of profit
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at
FVTOCI are not reported separately from other changes
in fair value.

(iv) Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its financial
assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@  cash, which comprises of cash on hand; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
pUrposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.

Taxation
The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company
and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
The management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FHEGSHBEBREINEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFTHRER (E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

3.2 EASHEERER(E)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs
and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resource will be
required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprised lease
termination penalties and employee termination payments.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Foreign currency translation

()  Functional and presentation currency
[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”),
which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

(i)  Transactions and balances

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

3. MAUGSMBH/ENEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Government grants

Grants from the PRC government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with the attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to prepaid land lease payment
and intangible assets are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred income and are credited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the
related assets.

Employee benefits

()  Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations
The employees in Mainland China participate in the
defined contribution retirement plans managed by the
local government authorities whereby they are required
to contribute to the schemes at fixed rates of the
employees’ salary costs. The Group’s contributions to
these plans are charged to profit or loss when incurred.

The Group has no obligations for the payment of the
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of staff
other than the contributions described above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HmEMLEMBEBERMNEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RETEERER (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 3.2 BEASTHBRER(E)
Borrowings B8
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of BEYLSEAREGEHRATES
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently WRZGKA)ER - BEHERE
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the SHEK AN DIRR ¢ P15 FRIB (IR R
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value SRR ) BAIE Bl B A 2 MR =
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss BHAEBRTEREZNEEBRRNT
and other comprehensive income over the period of the TeBmkEMEERERER
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that
it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service. A
contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Sales of goods
Revenue from the sale of good directly to the customers
is recognised at the point that the control of the inventory
have passed to the customers, which is primarily upon
the acceptance of the products by the customers. The
customers have full discretion over the products, and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration
before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer,
a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contractual liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under
the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Estimates are continuously evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.

(@) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether assets have suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in note 3. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.
The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate present value, which has been prepared on the
basis of the management’s assumptions and estimates.

(b) Provision of ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets, advances to staff and other receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
management judgement as groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on
the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At the
end of each reporting period, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. In addition, trade receivables with
significant balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL
individually. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s
trade receivables are disclosed in note 41.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(continued)

()

(d)

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation or amortisation charges for its
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment and purchase
know-how and prescription of similar nature and functions. It
could change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles.
Management will increase the depreciation or amortisation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in the PRC. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for
income tax. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and
liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.

4. BARGEHEE (&)

()

(d)

ME BERRBURELE
ERERFH 25t

AEBEZEEEETEYE BE
KgtwA N BT EEZ At AT AF
HIRARRE T E SRS L fhRAT
TIRRIEE RINBEARI % - R
FEREEANBENRMMEET 2
ERATAF IR AELRED - &
Mgl LR FHFRAREETER
HIEBR M EREL 2 TR Al REfE (AT
ERWE - el BFEHIR LA
ATV - B ERE T E
A BEEETAENERES
HEMIM LERE 2 EENIER
% & E T DA SOHORL ©

FRi&%t
REBERHRTE 2 FAEH - RNE
FE RSB B RS A VE L E XA -
ARAARL REEEREHIALZ
R RAE - AEEREREID
BERZEEZAER  2ERESD
HIRERINEBBIIR TR © W%
FHIZREBBERB S L
TETRE  BEREZREFEFELE
EZHEAZ N RBELEMREHRE
ENAE-

EMEEEREECEERDBERAR
—E-=FER

7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

5. REVENUE 5. WA
The principal activities of the Group are manufacture and REBFEXBRRERDHPER
distribution of Chinese medicines and pharmaceutical products. BEEmD -  WABHEEERNWEZRE -
Revenue represents the invoiced value of merchandise sold less WEREBBEE - T - BEHRRHE
allowances for returns, discounts, value-added tax and other sales S EAR AT IER 58 o

related taxes.

2023 2022
—E=-= -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Sales of Chinese medicines and FREE G B ARE EHE
pharmaceutical products 841,545 841,586

Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue by geographical

AEERAREETIHZZIFD

market
2023 2022
—ZEC=HF —E - —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
PRC s 841,545 841,586

REHEFFE AR TAE WA RN ATER
BRF ] A2 (BB I B o

The timing of revenue recognition of all revenue from contracts with
customers is at a point in time.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining PHEEHNRTEINEEINRSER
performance obligations for contracts

The contracts are with an original expected duration of one year or
less or contracts for which revenue is recognised at the amount to
which that Group has the right to invoice for the sales performed.
Accordingly, the Group has elected the practical expedient and
has not disclosed the amount of transaction price allocated to the
performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)
as of the end of the reporting period.

BHREHMBRAS—FHUAAR - HAEKD
Wk iR N BB EFETHER A
BENTHEER - At AEEEEE
REETE  RYBRBEHEEREHR
DEZRAET(HIDRET)BOR
ENRZEROTHE

78 Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



» ¥ *w ’ _“v
. -

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information

Information reported to the Directors, being the chief operating
decision-makers (“CODM”), for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods delivered.

The Directors have identified that, the Group has only one
reportable operating segment, which is the manufacture and
distribution of Chinese medicines and pharmaceutical products in
the PRC. Since this is the only reportable operating segment of the
Group, no further operating segment analysis thereof is presented.

Geographical information

In addition, the Group’s revenue, expenses, results, assets and
liabilities and capital expenditures are predominantly attributable
to a single geographical region, which is the PRC. Therefore, no
analysis by geographical regions is presented.

Information about major customers

There is no revenue from customers for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 contributed over 10% of the total
operating revenue of the Group.

OTHER INCOME

2 EEH
7 ERER
AREBHAXNEPERAES - O
SEERFATEIELEREAD - #
ERDERVED BRRLHD BEK -

ERCHNNAEEHES AR 2HKE
DEB - TR ME— 2 BRI R B RLE A ) 35
RENBEERM - ARED AR EE
EAEN—ARZ2FKEDE - Hit - I
BERHEE—FEEDEIHN -

EER

oh - REBRKA - X - ¥E &
ERBEUAREARABSTBRIBOKEE
—E - BIPE - FElt  YESRE
DHT o

ERIFEEF2ER

BE T _=FKr-_ZFT-_—F+=-A
=t—HItFE  TEFXAREZWA
{RAREE LB AFBIBI0% °

HAKA

2023 2022
—ZEC=HF T F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Kt ARET T AREFIT
Bank interest income SRITA B YA 3,102 2,161
Other interest income H A F B U A 2,870 3,208
Government subsidies (Note) Bt aL (H1aE) 17,216 504
Recognition of deferred income RIS A 35 5,423 1,582
Yield gains on financial assets at FVTPL & A EFT ABZERN SR

& E R 4,817 1,444

Interest income from financial assets LA SER AT ERN S RMEE
measured at amortised cost FFI 2 U A 27,148 29,938
Penalty income SFA 1,005 4,119
Others HAb 1,903 13,706
Total st 63,484 56,662

Note: During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group received
subsidies from various local municipal government bodies in the PRC, which
aimed at the general financing of the business and technology development of
the Group which were immediately recognised as other income for the year.
There are no unfulfiled conditions and other contingencies attached to the
receipts of those subsidies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAARKZTR)
8. OTHER GAINS 8. Hfttz
2023 2022
—E=-= —E__F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT
Net gain on financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABENECRIEE
B EE 608 3,074
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BEAK
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETF T
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITERZAEER 450 =
Interest expenses on a loan from government BT H# R & 7k 2 Il 8. &
authority 7 7
Other interest expenses HAbF 2 &R 58 470

515 477
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£ " - 3
- - -

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. BRBLATEF

2023 2022
—E=F —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARET T ARBTIT
Profit before tax for the year INEEJE BR A5 A& A
is arrived at after charging: BB T5I&IE -
Cost of inventories sold (excluding EHEFTERAN(TRIE
additional provision for, and N R MEHEE R
write off of obsolete and TEETFE
slow-moving inventories) 247,893 181,216
Provision for obsolete and slow-moving  BEEE } 4 4717 &5 B4
inventories (included in cost of sales) (GTASHERA) 9,606 5,038
Provision for loss allowance on trade JEWE SRR R A K
receivables and contract assets A E 2 EEEE 27 724 5,993
Provision for loss allowance on E{th fEINGRIA 2 s R S
other receivables 28 43,232 7,977
Auditor’s remuneration 1% EREM B <& 451 439
Research and development cost* R A 13,102 19,061
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - RE NSNS
equipment 18 26,442 32,423
Amortisation of right-of-use assets FREEESE 20 1,114 1,174
Amortisation of intangible assets R A S 23 4 7
Loss on revaluation on property, plant %1% « BE N ZEZ
and equipment EhEE 5,389 =
Fair value loss on investment properties* R &M 2 A o k8" 19 355 -
Employee benefits expenses and BTRMEBARANER
human resources cost (excluding MR (TERESE R
directors’ and supervisors’ EEEME) ¢
remuneration):
Salaries and allowances e KoE 95,742 143,922
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFT SR 6,150 2,507
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEYE - BREMEE
and equipment &8 60 15,586

These items are included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(@ Income tax represents:

11. FIBHXH
(8) FIEREIE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E__F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT

PRC corporate income tax HR B {2 PSR
— Current year —RFE 26,853 20,957
— Under-provision of prior year —BAEFEREBTR 24,644 9,550
Deferred taxation (Note 36) EIERIE (H15236) (1,390) (26,727)
50,107 3,780

The PRC corporate income tax is provided according to the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC.

On 16 March 2007, the National People’s Congress approved
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, which became effective
from 1 January 2008. In accordance with the new tax law,
an unified enterprise income tax rate of 25% is applied to
both domestic-invested enterprises and foreign-invested
enterprises.

On 17 September 2018, the Company was accredited
as a “National New and High-tech Enterprise” by the Jilin
Provincial Science and Technology Bureau (& # & & 2 5
fiiE2). The Company is entitled to a reduced PRC corporate
Income tax rate of 15% for another three consecutive years
commenced since year 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAREZT)
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 1. IS8 (&)
(b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at (b)  MIAST B A N IR i PR A R
applicable tax rate: BRANE :
2023 2022
—E=-= 2o F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETFTT
Profit before tax BR A AR A 198,314 197,345

National tax calculated at PRC enterprise  1ZFh B> 2 F 155 K15%

income tax rate of 15% (2021: 15%) ZE T —F : 15%) T ER R 29,747 29,602
Higher tax rate enacted by local authority & MR B e Y 8 = Ff 2R 3,133 -
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEFRHMANRE T 2E 3,973 1,393
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DA AT OS2 (11,390) (10,038)
Under-provision of prior year BT FERETE 24,644 9,550
Deferred tax on temporary differences B R RE R RIIE
in prior year - (26,727)
Income tax expense FriSisz i 50,107 3,780
12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. EREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended HE—_ZE-—=#+—-_A=+—BIt&E
31 December 2023 is based on the profit attributable to owners B BREARENDIBREEAXNKRNAD G E
of the Company for the year of RMB148,207,000 (2022: B AR A A R #148,207,0007T (=
RMB193,565,000) and 560,250,000 shares in issue during the year T -4 : AR®A193,565,0007T) K& E
(2022: 560,250,000 shares). W B 17 8% 17 560,250,000 (=T ==

£ : 560,250,0000%)5H& -

Diluted earnings per share is not presented as there were no HREE S —FER T —F+—
dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence during the years B=+—HIEETEEZEE ST R
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. R% + i 25| SRS AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

13. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 13. A RI#EHE AL &R

COMPANY
Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended HE—_ZT-_=—F+-_A=+—HILEE
31 December 2023 includes a profit of RMB44,987,000 (2022: A AREES AES R B 3EER A
RMB196,054,000) which has been dealt with in the financial R#44,987,0000L(ZF=—F : ARK
statements of the Company (Note 38). 196,054,0007T) ' &Zm MERARARZ
B iR P BRI (PI7E38) ©
14. DIVIDENDS 14. BRE

2023 2022

—EC=HF B F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

2023 Special dividend — RMBO0.5 (2022 Special —Z& =~ =FF5I&E — &%

dividend — RMB0.0625) per share AR5 (=T = —FRH
f& 8 — AR#0.06257T) 280,125 35,016
No final dividend has been proposed or paid by the Company in AR TEZRERNEE=S ==
respect of the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. F=ZE_—F+-A=+—HLEFEZ

ERREAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

15. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 15. EERERTHRAESMS
REMUNERATION

(@) Directors’ remuneration (@ E=M=2
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant FR - BIBEGEM LT HREIRES
to the GEM Listing Rules and section 383 of the Hong CRBHER Y (FE622F ) 5538315 &
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and Part 2 of the (RRI(BEBEE=FER)BRHINE
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of 2ESZMHTEFMBEBEMESMES T ¢

Directors) Regulation is as follows:

2023 —E-=F
Salaries,
allowances Pension
Directors’ and other Discretionary fund 2023
fees benefits bonus contributions Total
E2 =4 —EC-=F

Eshe REMANE BERA  BASHER ams
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARETRT AR®TR ARRTR ARETR

(Note (i)
(Hriz()
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Zhang Hong (Chairman) RoA(F/E) - 273 350 - 623
Zhang Xiao Guang KRB - 226 220 32 478
Zhao Bao Gang b=t - 173 130 136 439
Wu Guo Wen REIX - 82 70 30 182
Zhang Yi RE - 196 180 24 400
Xu Xiang Fu fRmx - 109 130 22 261
Indlependlent Non-Executive BUHHTEE :
Directors:
Gao Qi Pin SHS 72 - - - 72
Tian Jie A 10 - - - 10
Bai Jun Gui HE& 10 - - - 10
92 1,059 1,080 244 2,475
Note: Kt
(i) A discretionary bonus is recommended by the Remuneration (i) BIEEARTMEE SRR - L
Committee and is approved by the board of directors, having HEFE2EARKEKLEEE - AA
determined with reference to the Group’s operating results, individual REARAELRTIZEBEETE -

performance and comparable market statistics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

15. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’

REMUNERATION (continued)

15. EERSRITRAEME (&)

0] A discretionary bonus is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and is approved by the board of directors, having
determined with reference to the Group’s operating results, individual

performance and comparable market statistics.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

(@) Directors’ remuneration (continued) (a E=M<(E)
2022 —E-_F
Salaries,
allowances Pension
Directors’ and other  Discretionary fund 2022
fees benefits bonus  contributions Total
e A eSS
EEE REMFR BB BRAINEHEH “Ee
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®ETT ARETT ARETE ARETR
(Note ()
(Hizt()
Executive Directors: HITEE :
Zhang Hong (Chairman) RoA(F/E) - 239 300 - 539
Zhang Xiao Guang REEN - 186 200 28 414
Zhao Bao Gang HER - 133 120 73 326
Wu Guo Wen REIX - 46 79 23 148
Zhang Yi RE - 182 160 21 363
Xu Xiang Fu fRmE - 101 120 21 242
Independient Non-Executive BUFHTEE -
Directors:
Gao Qi Pin =Hm 72 - - - 72
Tian Jie H 10 - - - 10
Bai Jun Gui BEE 5 - - - 5
87 887 979 166 2,119
Note: HiaE -

() BEEARFNE S SitEmERE - I
HESE2EAKEKEEE - @A
RERAELRTISEIREERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

15. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Senior executives’ remuneration
Details of remuneration paid to the Supervisors of the
Company which were all below HK$1,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB901,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
RMB877,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022) are as

15. EERERITRAEME (F)

(b) SRITHAEME
AEBERAARRSEET M ZEE
FE 41,000,000 T(REBE=F
—=F+-—A=1+—HLEERE
RAREI1,000T M REE —F

follows: ——FE+ - A=F+—HILFEERE
R ARM877,0007T) - BN
T
2023 —E-=F
Salaries,
allowances
and other  Discretionary Pension fund 2023
benefits bonus contributions Total
E = 41 —EC=H
R H % [Eh=g{3AN BRESMHER HW e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®T R ARET R AR®T R
(Note (i)
(Bret()
Supervisors: EE
Qiao Xiao Chun BEE 69 70 19 158
Wang Ying Xu THEME 54 6 18 78
Yan Li Yu EEE 46 6 25 77
169 82 62 313
Note: Hiat
[0} A discretionary bonus is recommended by the Remuneration [0} BMIBEARTMES S HREE

Committee and is approved by the board of directors, having
determined with reference to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

o THERG2EALEL
BEE  BEARFRAELER
MISBIRREE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

15. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 15. EERSHRITHAEME(E)
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Senior executives’ remuneration (continued) (b) SRITHAEME (E)
2022 —E-_F
Salaries,
allowances
and other Discretionary Pension fund 2022
benefits bonus contributions Total
e R —T_CF
R B F) BB IEAT BN HR Bl
RMB'’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT ARETIT ARETT
(Note ()
(H1a)

Supervisors: 2%

Qiao Xiao Chun BEAE 60 60 17 137

Wang Ying Xu THEME 39 15 15 69

Yan Li Yu B E 42 2 15 59

141 77 47 265

Note: Kiat -

(i) A discretionary bonus is recommended by the Remuneration (i) RIS EABRTHNEE SHERE
Committee and is approved by the board of directors, having # UHEBEEELELEELR
determined with reference to the Group’s operating results, EEE  AARBRRAIELR
individual performance and comparable market statistics. THIZBIREETE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

15. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 15. EERSHRITHAEME(E)
REMUNERATION (continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) EBEESFMAL
The five highest paid individuals during the year included O FRNhEERTNATERREELE
Directors (2022: zero Directors) whose remuneration were set B(ZE—F - TEEE) - H
out in (a) above. Details of the emoluments of non-directors, SHBER EX@ESHT - BHEZZT
the highest paid individual for the year ended 31 December TR E_=F+_-_H=+—
2022 and 2023 are as follows: HIEFE  FEERSFMALH
ISR

2023 2022

—EC=HF B F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

Salaries, allowances and other benefits & - J28H R E M FZE 5,124 4,479
Pension scheme contributions RN FH BT 92 19
5,216 4,498
The number of the highest paid non-directors fell within the LT HMER AN &= =S
following emolument band: AE
2023 2022
—ZE=-= —E__fF
Number of Number of
individual individual
AE AEK
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/5 7T 2 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L 2 1,500,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7c 22,000,000/ 7T 1 -
5 ®
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no BE_ZT-_=FR-_FT-__F+=
emoluments were paid by the Group to these highest paid A=+—BILFE  KAEEIWLER
employees as an inducement to join, or upon joining the ZE = o E B I E RIS 1
Group, or as compensation for loss of office. ABEMASIRINARE B2 48

B - SERER e

il

\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAARKZTR)
16. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 16. EIRERIFHE
Defined contribution retirement plans EREHFRIRETE
Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the RIEF B AEE SRR RER - AEEH
PRC, the Group participate in a defined contribution retirement 2B B A T BT R AR A E
benefit scheme (the “Scheme”) organised by the PRC municipal BRI EE (% 81) - &
government authority in the Jilin Province whereby the Group is bt ARBAEAEWREENHABELE
required to make contributions to the Scheme at certain percentage B —E B 2 Az et 815K o #75 BUT
of the eligible employees’ relevant salaries. The local government MY RN EBHN2ERAEFTE
authority is responsible for the entire pension obligation payable to BEfAE -
retired employees.
The Group’s contribution to retirement benefits schemes for the REEZT-_=F+-A=+—HItHF
year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB6,150,000 (2022: &+ NEE AT AR KR RIS L3R
RMB2,720,000). The Group has no other material obligation for the BAREBG,150,000L(ZF==4F : AR
payment of pension benefits associated with the Scheme. #2,720,0007T) ° A5 BN AR E A 5 B %
TR E R ARBNIREE
17. BEARER BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 17. TREBEYEE
Bearer biological assets comprise: TRRBEMEERLE
2023 2022
—EC-=HF B —
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Ginseng, at cost A2 LANME 15,080 15,080
Carrying amount at 31 December RTZH=+t—HBZKAE 15,080 15,080
Recondiliation of carrying amounts of bearer biological assets: TRBEMEEREBELE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Ginseng A
Carrying amount at 1 January and R—A—BEt+t=-—A=+—H
31 December Z BRHEE 15,080 15,080

The carrying amounts of ginseng were valued at their original costs.
These assets are in their early stage of cultivation and preparation
and active market prices are not available. In addition, the Directors
are of the view that the original costs would approximate their fair
values at this stage of their development.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. M3 - MEN&RE

Furniture,
Plantand Transportation fixtures and
Buildings machinery equipment equipment Total
HE #B
BT BE RS EnRf PET w@st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARBFTL ARETT
Cost: A :
At 1 January 2022 RZE=— 189,321 169,445 19,134 4710 382,610
Additions NE 1,799 6,770 2,722 26 11,317
Disposals HE (15,479) (645) - - (16,124)
Transfer EEd 84,346 49,840 - - 134,186
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—&#+-R=+—8 259,987 225,410 21,856 4,736 511,989
Additions NE 15,501 5118 5,906 412 26,937
Disposals e = (533) = - (533)
Transfer EEt (37,307) = = = (37,307)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=#+-fA=+-8 238,181 229,995 27,762 5,148 501,086
Accumulated depreciation: ZEHE
At 1 January 2022 W-ZE-—%-A-H 56,543 112,786 10,737 3,950 184,016
Charge for the year (Note 10) R B(A£10) 8,135 21,818 2,081 389 32,423
Written back on disposals {ERE - (538) - - (538)
At 31 December 2022 RZE==#+=-A=+—-H 64,678 134,066 12,818 4,339 215,901
Charge for the year (Note 10) R 3H(A7£10) 10,141 12,786 3,103 412 26,442
Written back on disposals HEHD - (453) = = (453)
Transfer sk (2,363) - - - (2,363)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=A=1—H 72,456 146,399 15,921 4,751 239,527
Carrying amount: FEfE
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=#+-fA=+-H 165,725 83,596 11,84 397 261,559
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—#+-A=+—H 195,309 91,344 9,038 397 296,088

EHEBRRIE(CREROERAT O
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REWE

The Group leases out various properties with fixed rentals payable
monthly.

The leases typically run for an initial period of one to five years. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or
lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

AEERESEYE  pEASET -
iR AR -

HME—ROLRE—Z2HF - HHTE
EHRHREERRR SEBEANREBE
RIFEEYFEABRIZE -

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETTT

Fair value NAE
At 1 January R—HA—H - -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment & B Y% - FE K&E

(Note 18) (K17#18) 29,555 =
Net loss from a fair value adjustment RAERAR 2 EEFE (355) =
At 31 December R+ZA=+—~H 29,200 -

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2023, have been arrived at on the basis of valuation
carried out on the respective dates by management of the Group.

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivables by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

REBREMVENR_T_=F+_A
=T BENAREDNEASEEEER
1HRE B BETTR M EETE -

R-_E-_=%F+—-_HA=+—H '  A&£H
RIBFEEAE Z TR HEEEHER K
REARI AR BGIR RN E IR0 T ¢

2023

—E-=
RMB’000
AR®T T
Within one year —FR 700
After one year but within two years —FRERMENRN 780
After two years but within three years MEBBER=FER 860
2,340
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAREZT)
19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 19. REWHE(E)
Fair value hierarchy AREER
Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key AR A% & W2 B B A E T KA E R
inputs to the valuation of investment properties: FEHABBEOBE -
Range or weighted average
31 December
[ = AN FE S 29 B
Significant t=RA=+-H
Valuation technique  unobservable inputs 2023 2022
fHERM BEATUERGARE —E=-= —EoCfF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Completed commercial Direct comparison Market unit sale rate
properties approach (RMB/sg.m.) 24 -
BRTrEAmE BERELEE TS B HE &R
(AR TFF7XK)
The valuations of completed investment properties were based on ERTHREMENHEDRELZ2RBAIE
either the direct comparison method by reference to comparable HERMIER S AL BE(EmiE B
market transactions, which is positively correlated to the market HEBXRZFMHB)FE -
unit sale rate.
The fair values of all investment properties are measured on Level 3 FIERENENAABRE=ZEBRARL
fair value measurement. There were no transfers into or out of Level B2 EstE - TN F=ERTE
3 during the year. s Ak o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(@  The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

20. EAEEE
(@) FAAEEZERAELEERAER
ZEHmT

Land use rights

T it fE A
2023 2022
—E-=F B —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
As at 1 January R—HA—H 49,116 36,619
Additions nE - 13,671
Depreciation charge TERX (1,114) (1,174)
As at 31 December R+—A=+—~” 48,002 49,116

(b)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases

are as follows:

Bam P RN EERERED

C
A%
S
il

Bl

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREF T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEENERY

assets (Note 10) (H1zZ10) (1,114) (1,174)

21. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 21. EEIRE
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E- 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARET T
At 1 January n—H—H - 47,857
Additions NE 4,904 -
Transfer R - (47,857)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—~1 4,904 —
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 22. ARATKB A S

COMPANY
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 were as RZEZ=F+ZH=+—H WBA
follows: AIFFIBAT ¢
Country of incorporation Issued and fully Percentage of
and operation and paid share capital/ ordinary shares  Principal
Name of subsidiary legal entity status registered capital held directly  activity
MR LR ERTRAR BEERE
B A RARE RENERREEERMA BA/GEMER TERANESL TEEE
EMERTEREMELERAR e FREEAF AR #5,000,0007T 100% EEEE
PRC, limited liability company RMB5,000,000 Dormant
EMEREREMEHRER AR HE - AREEAR AE#20,000,0007T 100% SERS HEREEM
([=ER DA PRC, limited liability company RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and
distribution of
health products
EMRERmAEERELAR HE - AREEAR AR20,000,0007C 100% AERDHESHERERE
Rm
PRC, limited liability company RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and
distribution of
beverages and pre-
packaged food
EMEREFHEREARAA HE - BREEAR AE#20,000,0007T 100% HWARRARES
PRC, limited liability company RMB20,000,000 Not yet commenced
business
EEERREEMRSH e FREEAF AR #500,0007C 100% 7 HIRZER
BREEAH PRC, limited liability company RMB500,000 Distribution of health
products
BEREBEERAR HE - AREEAR AR#980,0007 100%  PiEREER
PRC, limited liability company RMB980,000 Distribution of health
products
# As at 31 December 2023, £ #EJR had no paid-up capital. Its capital is to be u RZZZ=F+ZA=+—H  RERLE
fully paid-up before 10 September 2026. BEBRAE - ERAER =T = FNAT+AH
RIBRER ©
The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries classified as current assets/ FEU, (FE() Mi B A B RIB D Bl &4
(liabilities) respectively in the Company’s statement of financial ARRBHERRERZ RBEE, (A
position are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. &) AEERHR . RERRERERER-
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end Bt /&8 7 =) 3% 4 A i 2 HA AR =l R 8 4 2 /Y
of the reporting period or at any time during both years. FA A B TEMERES ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

23. BREE

RMB’000
AREFIT
Cost R
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and N-ZZT_—_F—HF—H —T__fF
31 December 2023 +=—A=+—HAFK—ZFT-_=F+-A=+—H 68,167
Accumulated amortisation and Rt BERREEE
impairment loss
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—=—F—H—H 68,135
Amortisation 5 7
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+-_A=+—H 68,142
Amortisation 5 4
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=ZHA=+—H 68,146
Net carrying amount BREFHE
At 31 December 2023 R-E—_=F+_A=+—H 21
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H 25

Purchased know-how and prescription were acquired through
research and development cooperation with independent third

parties and were all acquired in cash.

During the year, the Directors reviewed the carrying amount of
the purchased know-how and prescription based on the future
economic benefits generated from these assets. No impairment
loss was recognised for the current year (2022: Nil).

FE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UARBZET)
24. GOODWILL 24, BHE
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Carrying amount BREE
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BAEk+=ZA=+—H 6,254 6,254
The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating BECZEMEBENNIIRESHEHTE LIRS

25.

units of distribution of Chinese medicine. The recoverable amounts
of the cash-generating units are determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management. The cash flows
are discounted using a discount rate which is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant segments. The values assigned
to the key assumptions on market development and discount
rates are consistent with external information sources. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, Directors conducted a review of
goodwill and no impairment loss in respect of goodwill has been
recognised (2022: Nil).

BN - iﬁi&i MZT@HSZiﬁ,E
BREBEFHAEBBEZFTERLERE - Z%5
ﬁﬁ/ﬁ{%ﬁﬁ/z%ﬁﬁﬁﬁi//wlf/\EIEFH*/E
T BIBEE BRI - iﬁ‘i\mﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁu&
A [ B A B o 5045 5 R B 2 B 3R & Bh
H m%%’*@ZIxTF“FﬁﬁHF@&HE
REEAINFERRKFE—H - &HE-Z
—=HF+-_A=+—HILFE BEF#E
TEERN 0 B EEERERRER
B(ZEZ=ZF : %)

INVENTORIES 25. 7
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Raw materials R 53,599 54,934
Work in progress R 32,350 39,840
Finished goods SURK o 32,522 44,106
118,471 138,880

Less: Provision for obsolete and B BEE O SEE SR

slow-moving inventories (15,499) (5,893)
102,972 132,987

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a provision on obsolete
and slow-moving inventories of approximately RMB9,606,000 was
made (2022: RMB5,038,000) has been recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within
“cost of sales”.

HE2E T _=F+=-_B=+—HIF
€ - BERIEL 4 ARQ,606,0007T 2
BERFHETEREB(ZZE__F : /\E
#5,038,0007T) * WEFFALREEZ

b EEREE R AR SEERA ]

EMEEEREECEERHBERAH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

25. INVENTORIES (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no obsolete
and slow-moving inventories were written off.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no obsolete
and slow-moving inventories which the provision were already
made in prior years, were written off.

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

25. FE (&)
HE_ZT-_=—Fk=-_F=-_—_F+=A
=+—HIEFE - TEMBEREZEREHE
=FE -
HE_ZT-_=—Fk=-_FT=-_—_F+=A
=+—HIFE TEHERURFE
VEH B R R SOF ST S VE I o

26. BEAAEFABSENEREE

2023 2022
—EC=HF B F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

Current assets MBEE
Unlisted financial assets e RERE

90,608 263,074

The fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are within level 3 of fair
value hierarchy (note 41(f)).

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS

(@) Trade receivables

BRAREFABENEREEAREE
NAERRTE=BRMEL0) -

27. BRESRARENEE
() EWESER

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETTT

Trade receivables B SRR 352,080 380,176
Less: Loss allowance B ER A (83,753) (97,370)
Trade receivables, net R E ZRFFRE 268,327 282,806

(i) The Group’s policy is to allow an average credit period
of 180 days to its trade customers.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 27. EWESERIESHNEE (&)
ASSETS (continued)

(a) Trade receivables (continued) (@ EWEZERM(E)
(i)  The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on iy WREZZBEHRAKRERE

SEENERBER  BKE
SERFEREDTIAT

the invoice date and net of loss allowance of trade
receivables, is as follows:

2023 2022

—EC=HF B F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AREFIT

0-30 days 0-30H 33,525 83,301
31-90 days 31-90H 118,894 71,156
91-180 days 91-180H 71,659 68,071
More than 180 days HB®180H 44,249 60,278
268,327 282,806

@iy  The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, these receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the aging from
billing. See Note 41(a) for further information about
expected credit loss provision. Impairment losses are
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income within “administrative
expenses”.

iy AEEERBBYMBRELE
A 95R 5T BA M RS 1k T3 05 51
IRTEHEEEE  HAFn
JEUWE 5 R KET IR 2 HATEHA
EBERE RITERHEE
BB ZERWKIBRE L
B {5 B 2 b 55 8 &% PR B8 BR R
EITHMHE  BEEBEHEERES
ERENE—FTSER - BK
iT41(a) - BEHBERGEE
R EAMEEREE R TTEEF
X JARER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 27. EWESERIESHNEE (&)

ASSETS (continued)
(@) Trade receivables (continued) (a) EWEZRMR(E)
(i) (continued) iy (&) .
The movements in the loss allowance during the year FANBEBENSHOT :
are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

Opening balance FHNEER 97,370 87,729
Provision for loss allowance EiE R 9,015 9,641
Amount written off as uncollectible MEE AR E R £ 3R (22,632) =
Closing balance FAREER 83,753 97,370
Loss allowance had been made for the estimated JE?TE%&?‘%B%&%E%Z%
irrecoverable amounts arising from the sale of goods. At TAIEl R #BIEL - B
The loss allowance was determined by the directors E2ZRETERER - &
with reference to past default experience, current KEBRARAEEEREE
economic conditions and forward-looking information. EEEESRE -
(v) Directors consider the carrying amount of trade vy ZBERRE F’E%Zféf%ﬁ% KL
receivables approximates their fair value. IREEHEEAAERS
(b) Contract assets (b) BREE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR AR¥ETT

Contract assets BREE 44,021 61,207
Less: Loss allowance B SRS (38,228) (46,519)
Contract assets — net BHREE T8 5,793 14,688
As at 1 January 2022, contract assets (net of loss allowance) R=ZFZ_—_F—H—B" 84
amounted to RMB21,790,000. BE(MBEBEEREB) RARE
21,790,0007T °
Contract assets represents unbilled revenue of sales of E\@ﬁ%%lzﬁ’ilﬁ%uﬁﬁiéﬁ
Chinese medicine and pharmaceutical products arisen i"%ﬁ%ﬁr‘jﬂiﬁﬂmﬁﬁ?imqj%
from the Group’s right to receive consideration for sales KB B an fﬁ’%ﬂiﬁﬁmﬂﬁk A
of products but not yet billed. The contract assets are *%%'Jﬁﬁil%?ﬂf\ﬂ%ﬁ B aHEEER
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become ZEEWE 5 RN L%XEE$E
unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group obtains LR R ERRE
the confirmation of receipt of goods from the customers.
The significant decrease in the current year is due to the RNEE KB D TR EEEH
implementation of a tighter credit period. Fr%g o
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e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

28. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 28. HthfEWRIE - G RFAMFR

PREPAYMENTS b1 |

2023 2022

—E=HF —E-_F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T ARETIT

Deposits and prepayments & RIERTEIE 2,469 17,675

Advances to staff, net MBEIT# - JF5E 36,046 17,148

Other receivables, net (Note) HAbFEMGRIAE - SFRE(ML) 8,706 116,521

Bills receivables W E & 121,237 153,526

168,458 304,870
Note: As at 31 December 2023, included in the other receivables are approximately Kt : RZFE_=F+=-A=+—H st AHEME
RMB71,930,000 (2022: RMB110,000,000) of loans granted by the Group to WREBNAEBERE TELE=ZTNERLD
independent third parties. The amounts are secured, interest bearing at 4% per AR#71,930,000c(ZF==4F : AR¥
annum and repayable within agreed fixed terms. The Group does not hold any 110,000,0007T) ° ZEFRIEHEAR - BFF
agreed collateral over the balances. KA%eT R - WERRETEREEHRAEE -

AR BN A RS A AR S o
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, certain of the Group’s advances RZEBE_=ZFR_F-_—_F+_=A
to staff and other receivables were considered to be impaired. =+—H AEEREIBNFHE TR
For advances to staff and other receivables, impairment is TH K E A e R IB W R AR RE ° 5
measured as 12-month expected credit losses since there has BTITRFRREMEUGRIAT S - BIEG
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. ER12EAEHEEEE  RELE
The impaired receivables related to staff and debtors that were IRREREEERRIYENRIERE - 25
in financial difficulties and the following loss allowance has been ERE HY FE U 5k I8 7 2 FE 1A B B A 2 /Y
made. BTMERAER  EEECSHELNAT
EtE i -
Advances to staff Other receivables
=R Hi e R1E
2023 2022 2023 2022

—EB=F —To—F ZZEBZ=HE —T_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT AR®ETT AREBTT

Gross amounts 4ERE 59,974 33,753 91,359 180,383
Less: Loss allowance B iR (23,928) (16,605) (82,653) (63,862)
Net amounts FER 36,046 17,148 8,706 116,521

EMEEEREACEERHDERAT 101
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

28. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 28. HtiEWRIE - G RFAFR

Al

PREPAYMENTS (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance of advances to staff and
other receivables during the year, are as follows:

5 (&)
4 79 ) B T8 3R 2 R OB 59
BERBMT :

2023 2022

—EC=HF —EoF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFIT

At 1 January Kn—HA—H 80,467 72,490

Provision for loss allowance EriE R 43,232 7,977

Amount written off as uncollectible 6= V=R EE (17,118) =

At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 106,581 80,467
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. BERBEEEEY

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less. The Directors consider the carrying amount of these assets
approximates their fair value.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Short-term bank deposits and bank balances and cash are
denominated in RMB.

Cash at banks carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.3%
to 0.35% (2022: 0.3% to 0.35%) per annum. Short-term bank
deposits with original maturity of less than three months carry
interest at market rates ranging from 3.40% to 4.125% (2022: Nil)
per annum.

Jilin Province Huinan Changlong Bio-pharmacy Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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B EEREERERE AKEEE
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BRABREME -

RERITERARRITERNESUAAR
®IIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

AEr—F—

S AS AU

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

30. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT 30. U#iSERATENESMEE

AMORTISED COST
2023 2022
—E=HF —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBT T
Term deposits with initial term of over JREIEFE KRR =1E H
three months and less than one year NR—F B E BIFER 212,846 655,451
Term deposits with initial term of JREIBIE KRR —F
over one year B 5E BRTE K 724,157 211,405
937,003 866,856
(@) Bank deposits with original maturity of more than three @ REFEBBE=@AZRITHFERIL

months carry interest at a market rates of ranging from
1.75% to 4.125% (2022: ranging from 2.94% to 4.125%) per
annum.

No provision for impairment loss for these financial assets
was made as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 as the financial
assets were considered to be of low credit risk and the
expected credit loss of these financial assets was minimal.
Deposits were placed with the licensed banks in the PRC with
good credit rating. All these financial assets had no history of
default and there was no unfavourable current conditions and
forecast of future economic conditions at the reporting dates.

The fair values of financial assets maturing after twelve
months are disclosed in note 41 (f)(iii).

FBENF1.75% F 4.125% &) T %
MEFB(ZE__F : 8FNT
2.94%ZFE4.125%) °

—ET--F+=H
=t+—H ELEBMEEVERE
EERE  AAEERBELESH
BENEERRREE BHREES
BT ER - ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ¢!;
B RIFERAFFRNFFERT - T8
BELSREENEENRE MY
ERA2 BB E AT K IE R &
RACEAR I NFEDFAE -

12 A RN EmEEN A E
FABEEA ()il BB ©

MR REE(CEERNBRAT
—E_=FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAARKZTR)
31. TRADE PAYABLES 31. ENEZKRN
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is LATRERZEZABERNE S RZRD
as follows: BREC AT -
2023 2022
—E=-= —E__F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT
0-30 days 0-30H 11,948 4,020
31-90 days 31-90H 5,623 2,992
91-180 days 91-180H 3,524 -
Over 180 days HiB180H 49,487 58,673
70,582 65,685
The average credit period from the Group’s trade creditors is 90 to REBBSEREACTFHEE AR
180 days. £180H -
Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade ERNEZEFETEBREBEIEENRE
purchases. The Directors consider the carrying amount of trade TR ESRAENESERERCEARE
payables approximates their fair value. BHERNAEEE °
32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 32. EtENRFIERETER
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARET T
Other payables Hfth e (- FRIR 280,930 265,656
Accrued salaries EETTE 17,118 9,167
Accrued welfare FEET R & 7,389 9,225
Accruals FEETE A 247,396 244,327
552,833 528,375
Analysed for reporting purpose: AR B FTER AT
— Current portion —meEn 549,963 526,414
— Non-current portion —IEmEEBH 2,870 1,961
552,833 528,375
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAARKZTR)
33. LOAN FROM GOVERNMENT AUTHORITY 33. BB ER
Loan was obtained from Huinan County Finance Bureau for the 128 i A B R B X L B SR A R R B
purpose of research and development activities of the Group. The BEZH ZREENRREER - &P
loan is unsecured and bear interest at one year term saving interest ARIRITHE M H — F & FI R 0.3
rate promulgated by The People’s Bank of China plus 0.3% per ERFERETE - ZZEREAR_Z
annum. The loan is expected to be repayable in 2024: ZVOE(EE ¢
2023 2022
—E-=F -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBT T
Within one year —FR 400 400
34. BANK BORROWINGS 34. RITER
2023 2022
“BCCE T
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity interest rate Maturity
BRAIZ L) ERFI= g
% RMB’000 % RMB'000
% ARETT % AREFT
Current BIE
Bank borrowings - unsecured RATIER - BHA 25 2024 8,000 - - -
Non-current FEH
Bank borrowings - unsecured BIBR-EER 25 2025 72,000 - - -
80,000 -
2023 2022
—EC-=HF B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETFTT
Analysed into: DA
Bank borrowings repayable FERTERITER
Within one year —FR 8,000 =
In the second year RE—F 72,000 =
80,000 -
The Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB as at 31 RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—H0 ' &~5H
December 2023. BHRAAREEHE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAREZT)

35. DEFERRED INCOME 35. IEEUW A
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
At 1 January Rn—H—H 41,955 43,537
Credited to profit or loss (Note 7) REZERFTAAEZ7) (5,423) (1,582)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 36,532 41,955
Carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+—HBKHEE 36,532 41,955
Portion classified as current liabilities DEAERHEEILD (989) (989)
Portion classified as non-current liabilities DERIERBEESD 35,543 40,966

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
did not receive government grants from Jilin Province Finance
Bureau and Huinan County Finance Bureau in relation to support

BHE 2 _=FKk-_FT-__F+=_A
=+ —HIFE  ANEEIRKEE M
EVBBRNEEGRYHRBE T HASE

investments on plant and equipment for further research and HHEREREREMNETL EEFE—F
development of the Group’s intangible assets. e 2 B
36. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 36. JELFATISH
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as REFTSHREENBBZOWAT :
follows:
2023 2022
—E=-= —E__4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE MBI R IER
consolidated statement of financial position ~— IEIEFLIE & 28,506 27,396
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE ISR R R
consolidated statement of financial position ~ IEXEFIIA & (& (2,742) (3,022)
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities), net EREBHEE(AfE)FH 25,764 24,374
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAREZT)
36. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 36. EIEFTSB(E)
The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as BIEFTISTIBR B VR BEFHIT -
follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —EoCF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETTT

As at 1 January Rn—HA—H 24,374 (2,353)
Credited to profit or loss W=t A M a2E11(E)

(Note 11(a)) 1,390 26,727
As at 31 December W+=A=+—~” 25,764 24,374
The movements during the year in the deferred tax assets and FNEERIBEERBBENEENT
liabilities are as follows:

Deferred tax assets ELEBRIEEE
Avising from
provision Arising
Avising from Arising from for the fromthe  Revaluation
impairment  impairment ~ obsoleteand  revaluation  of properties,  Revaluation
offrade  ofcontract  slow-moving of investment plantand  of intangible
receivables asset  inventories properties  equipment assets Total
REESEN REcHEE  FEEER RERENR 9% KER
BRAE HE REEEERE Bff B EBVEEER h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETT  ARETR  ARBTR
As at 31 December 2022 A —
TZA=1-A 14,738 6,978 884 - 3,19 1,600 27,39
Charged/{crectted) toproftorloss — INERZERRZHIR /(GHA)
during the year 51 (1,244) 1441 862 - - 1,110
As at 31 December 2023 RZF-=F
tZA=1-A 14,789 5,734 2,325 862 3,196 1,600 28,506
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

36. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

36. EEFTSH ()

ELEBIRAE

Depreciation
allowance in

excess of
related
depreciation
HiEEETE
ZITERE
RMB’000
ARBETFIT
As at 31 December 2022 RIEZZ_F+-_HA=+—H 3,022
Credited to profit or loss during the year REAEEZRFTA (280)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEBEZ=F+=-A=+—H 2,742
37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. A&
2023 2022
—E=F —E-—F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
B ¢ IR 2K S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT
Domestic shares of RMB0.10 each ~ FFRXE{EAR0.107TH
N 387,750,000 38,775 387,750,000 38,775
H shares of RMB0.10 each FREEBEARE0.107TH
HA% 172,500,000 17,250 172,500,000 17,250
560,250,000 56,025 560,250,000 56,025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. &ARMBMRT
COMPANY

As at 31 December

R+=B=+—H
2023 2022
—EZ=HF —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARETR AREF T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Bearer biological assets N BEMEE 15,080 15,080
Property, plant and equipment ER Y B 243,914 293,507
Investment properties REME 29,200 1,623
Right-of-use assets CRELE 48,002 49,116
Investment in subsidiaries RHBARRIRE (@) 48,386 86,480
Financial assets measured at amortised cost ~ LABESERK NG E S RIEE 724,157 211,405
Deferred tax assets EIEFIAEE 22,940 25,897
1,131,679 683,108
Current assets REBEE
Inventories =E 91,401 110,675
Trade receivables EUE 5 RN 129,302 154,624
Contract assets BHEE 5,793 14,688
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments ~ EAEWEIE « 514 K& (b)
SN ] 106,276 224,449
Amounts due from subsidiaries U BB A B F0A - 105,243
Financial assets at FVTPL BRARBEF AR SR
EE 90,608 263,074
Financial assets measured at amortised cost ~ LABESSR AT EM S RIEE 212,846 655,451
Cash and cash equivalents Re kB eEEY 291,770 89,210
927,996 1,617,414
Current liabilities REEE
Bank borrowings RITIERK 8,000 =
Trade payables eI 8 5 8R 5K 57,551 65,392
Contract liabilities EHEE 12,932 18,595
Other payables and accruals HibENZIBREAER 370,739 389,108
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHI B A BIRUR (b) 40,525 69,178
Deferred income EEWA 989 989
Income tax payable e TS % 11,425 25,219
Other tax payables A e 718 24,047 27,097
Loan from government authority BUR#EAE R 400 400
Dividend payable FERTAR 2 35,389 38,934
561,997 634,912
Net current assets MENBEFE 365,999 982,502
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDEE 1,497,678 1,665,610

EMEEEREACEERHBERAT 109
—T - = FFIR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

38. A QR R= (&)

COMPANY (continued)
As at 31 December
R+=A=t+—H
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i+ ARETFR AREFT
Non-current liabilities FRBaE
Bank borrowings HRITEK 72,000 =
Other payable H A e (508 2,870 1,961
Deferred income EEUA 35,543 40,966
Deferred tax liabilities EEIARE 2,742 3,022
113,155 45,949
Net assets EEZE 1,384,523 1,619,661
EQUITY R
Share capital % 37 56,025 56,025
Reserves {1 (c) 1,328,498 1,563,636
Total equity B 1,384,523 1,619,661
These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue ZEUBREN_ZE-_NF=A=+N

by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.

ZHANG HONG
5R 5.
Director

EFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
ZFET A= —HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

HE-F-=

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

(@)

As at 31 December 2023, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost of
approximately RMB66,480,000 (2022: RMB86,480,000), impairment loss of
RMB18,094,000 respect of investments in subsidiaries has been recognised in
statement of profit of loss (2022: Nil).

» “i - B
N
38. AARIMEAR AT (E)

Htat

(@) MR-Z-—=%F+—-A=+—H  HHBELIA

7% & IE A A K9 A R #66,480,0007T (=&

——4F : AR¥86,480,0007T)5IEE » BLAAH

BARMBEECRZRPHEAREGEAR

#18,094,0007T(=F ==

F) e

The amounts are trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on b)) FHEFREAREZNE  BEHR 2EREAR
demand. ERER o
Movement of reserves of the Company: © AREEHED -
Statutory
Share surplus Retained
premium reserve profits Total
RPEE EERBRE REEF st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBTFT ARETT ARETT
(Note () (Note (i)
(Hizta) (Hiez)
At 1 January 2022 R=—E-_—F—Hf—H 51,098 33,242 1,318,258 1,402,598
Profit for the year REZHF = = 196,054 196,054
Dividends declared REEIK - - (35,016) (35,016)
At 31 December 2022 R=Z-_—F+=-A=+—H 51,098 33,242 1,479,296 1,563,636
Profit for the year ARE 5 A - - 44,987 44,987
Dividends declared REEIK - - (280,125) (280,125)
At 31 December 2023 R-Z-=%
+=-A=+—8H 51,098 33,242 1,244,158 1,328,498
Notes: Kt
i) Share premium (i) BARE

(ii)

The Company’s share premium account represents the premium arising
from shares issued at a price in excess of their par value per share.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the Company’s
articles of association, the Company and its PRC subsidiaries will
appropriate 10 percent of their annual statutory net profit (after offsetting
any prior years’ losses) to the statutory surplus reserve account. When
the balance of such reserve reaches 50 percent of these entities” share
capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus
reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to issue bonus
shares. However, such statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at
a minimum of 25 percent of share capital after such issuance.

(ii)

ARB BN & EREABBERAE
ZERBETZRMEEZEE °

EERBREE
RIERERRNERANAR AR ZRMA
Bl - AQE] R E A BB A BB
A FEEAEEE - ABL10%ME
EEAEMNEEAERBRHESD - B
ZRBREBOESE AR Z
50% * ARRABITEERGHE—F
BHEFRIE - A E R A IERR
BEFEMEIBNEITAR - A -
MRBITREERBMRERERDER
RARAREI25% o

o
ZER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

39.

40.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions concerned with numbers of key
management during the year comprised only remuneration
paid to the Executive Directors, and is set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes judgements to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure using a gearing ratio, which is total debts divided by
adjusted capital. Total debts represent total borrowings. Adjusted
capital includes all components of shareholders’ equity less
unrealized reserves.

In order to maintain or adjust the gearing ratio, the Group may issue
new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing
or sell assets to reduce debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E-_=F 1+ -_HA=1—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(UAREZT)
40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 40. EXREBERE(E)
Capital management (continued) BEARAEE(E)
The gearing ratio at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was 5.32% and RZEZ=FR_ZT__F+=A
0.02% respectively, calculated as follows: == EI Zéfﬁiéff &5 B A5.32% K&
0.02% ' sHHEMT :
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Total debts B BEE
— Bank borrowings — RITIEFK 80,000 —
— Loan from government authority — TR E 3R 400 400
80,400 400
Shareholders’ equity NE R = 1,480,380 1,612,298
Gearing ratio BARA G E 5.43% 0.02%
41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. B EREE

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
including credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk,
price risk and fair values risk. The Group does not hold or issue
derivative financial instruments either for hedging or for trading

AEENEFHEEARELBYBR
% BREREERR  RBESEAR A
XEk  E%ER BRRREARE
R - AEBY BB RBETITES A

purposes. These risks are managed by the Group’s financial TEEEHHEZERS © ZZDT\X}EJT?;
management policies and practices as described below to minimise ZER R RS B8 TR BUR

potential effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@)

Credit risk

The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables, contract assets,
financial assets measured at amortised cost and financial
assets at fair value FVTPL. The Group’s credit risk is primarily

RAAERE - Mﬁg/ﬁﬂf&ffﬁﬁ I,HJW‘
RANBERE

(@ FERR
$EIZI£‘£?&E§FET—E%&E
SZEY - 5K EMEWFIR

EHEE J/A%&%W$uﬂ'gﬂ’]ivﬂl
BEWNMBEAAET ABZNE R

attributable to its trade and other receivables. The Group BE - AEBZEERREERA
allows an average credit period of 180 days to its trade H eI E 5 R 51 K H A fE Rk IE o
customers. The amounts presented in the consolidated AEBRABSEFPEL 2 TEAE
statement of financial position are net of loss allowance. EHA180H - fREFBHRAENR

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure
to any single trade counterparty or any Group of trade
counterparties having similar characteristics. It has policies
in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history.

PO S RE IR B IR A -

RE B B EIR U E —
ﬁ—%ﬁ%ﬁ% L HHFAEEXNEE

o REE B Bl E R FE R A
f% ’“‘ EEHENEPIELHE -

EMEIE R EER G ARAR
—Eo—fEH

T e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a

Credit risk (continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the historical monthly
outstanding balances of trade receivables of 36 months
before 31 December 2023 and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables.

As at 31 December 2023, 3.1% (2022: 1.7%) and 12.5%
(2022: 6.8%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers,
respectively.

The carrying amount of the trade and other receivables,
contract assets, financial assets at FVTPL, and cash and
cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

The Group’s management performs periodic credit
evaluations/reviews of its customers and ensure that sales
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. The
Group places deposits with major banks in PRC, to limit the
amount of credit exposure to any financial institution. Trade
and bills receivables, contract assets and other receivables
are subject to the expected credit loss model. To lower the
Group’s exposure to credit risk, the Group may request
deposits from certain of their customers before delivery of
goods.
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BHMEMEWHIE EHNEE
BRAREFABSHNEREENAR
RAe RS FEVREE P BN
RAFMFIMREESANKE R AL
ENeRmEERENZSEER

LA
o0
AR

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) M. BEEBERE (&)
(@) Credit risk (continued) (@ FERRKGE)
The Group has trade receivables from sales of products REBEBEETHRBY B HRELER
that are subject to HKFRS 9’s new expected credit loss FORMFBAEEEEEXNE
model. The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach miHE B E SR - AEEFA
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime BB B mELEUNFESRE(L T E
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables from initial FFTEEMEEREE  RUSER
recognition. To measure the expected credit losses, trade W RETEEWE 5 RREEEE
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit GFEHANIEEESE - BFr=7EH
risk characteristics and the ageing days. The expected FEEEE  BREZSEREREL
loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales and FEEERRERRER S E - TEH
the corresponding historical credit losses experienced. EEEERNHE BN RIE R R AE
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and FALENEEBTEEBE -8
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors EERXEHARURBREER P
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. HEEEBGIEE N AE L BEREER
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 RS AT M RTIE MR B R} o H i B %E
and 31 December 2022 was determined as follows for trade RZE_=F+-HA=+—BKk=
receivables: T+ A=+—HHEKZ
SEEEREEENT

Over
Within 6 months to Over 12
6 months 12 months months Total
HBiB61E A
RN 2128 ®BiBE12EA st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFTT AREFTT ARETT
At 31 December 2023 N-EBE-=F
+t=A=t+-—~H
Gross carrying amount REBE 247,547 48,497 56,036 352,080
Average expected loss rate  “FIITEHIEIE R 9.5% 24.6% 86.3%
Loss allowance R 23,469 11,948 48,336 83,753
At 31 December 2022 R-ZT_——F
+=-RA=+—8
Gross carrying amount REAE 276,389 61,318 42,469 380,176
Average expected loss rate  FIIFEHAEIE R 19.5% 29.1% 60.8%
Loss allowance E R 53,860 17,862 25,828 97,370

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

FEN E 5 MR ARE B BRI A & i
MAZINARERBEFE - HRIK
[B] 55 I 2 W H R 2 B AFT AR —18
B o

EMEEEREECEERDBERAR
—E-=FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the
Company’s board of directors when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates, or if floating, based on rates current at
the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group and the
Company can be required to pay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

41. BERERERE (&)

(b) REEEEE (&)

2023 —E-=fF
Total Within More than
contractual 1 year 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted oron less than
amount cash flow demand 2 years
AT RITR —FRH —F#%Z
REE REREHE RER MER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMT:R
Trade payables FERTE SRR 70,582 70,582 70,582 -
Other payables and accruals HARERFRIB R IET &R 552,833 552,833 549,963 2,870
Dividend payable FERTAR S 35,389 35,389 35,389 -
Bank borrowings RITIE K 80,000 84,482 10,374 74,108
Loan from government authority BT #RE & 7% 400 407 407 -
739,204 743,693 666,715 76,978

2022 —ET-—fF
Total Within More than
contractual 1 year 1 year but
Carrying  undiscounted or on less than
amount cash flow demand 2 years
FTRIARITER —FAK —FEE
REE Reanes BEX A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBT:R
Trade payables B E SRR 65,685 65,685 65,685 -
Other payables and accruals ~ H A B FIBERET B 528,375 528,375 526,414 1,961
Dividend payable FERTAR 2 38,934 38,934 38,934 -
Loan from government authority BRI E R 400 400 400 =
633,394 633,394 631,433 1,961

EREREREECERROERAD 117
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

41. BERERERE (&)

(c) Interest rate risk () R=@Epx
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its AEBHFERERERFEZRBIETR
borrowings from the bank and the Huinan County Finance EEEY B BRER o REBFI=X
Bureau. Borrowings at variable rates expose the Group to EEMERSAEBEHERCRE
cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as MERR ZEREEENASE
monitored by the management is set out below: FEBOREHNAT -
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E-_F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BERAI= BB A%
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
% ARET T % ARETIT
Variable rate borrowings ~ JFEIFREE 2.5 80,000 = =
Loan from government BT HEREE 3R
authority 1.8 400 1.8 400
The interest rate and terms of repayment of the Group’s AEERBEEREKERBREES
borrowings are disclosed in Note 33 and 34 to the B 15 R R I 5233 K2 341K FE o
consolidated financial statements.
At 31 December 2023, it was estimated that a general R-ZT-_=F+—-A=+—8 " &
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, REMEH NS - (WEEEFR L
with all other variables held constant, would decrease or S TR 100MEE S - AEF BB ER
increase the Group’s post-tax profit by RMB683,000 (2022: & B 18 0% s A a1 in A R
RMB3,000). 683,000 (=T = =—F : ARM
3,0007T) °
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming EliBRRE ST IBREFEE R
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the balance HHEMES BBt ARZAEN
sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to interest BEEFEKREREET o EFATE
rate risk for the borrowings in existence at that date. 100EEHREEEHRET —F
The 100 basis point increase or decrease represents the SHER IFHRAFERTTRELRNE
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change BEEH T o
in interest rates over the period until the next annual balance
sheet date.
(d) Currency risk (d EB¥REE

The Group mainly operated in the PRC with most of the
transactions settled in Renminbi and did not have significant
exposure to risk resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-—FE-—=Ff+ - A=+—HIFFZF
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(e) Price risk
The Group is not exposed to any equity price risk or
commodity price risk.

(e)

» ¥ *w ’ _“v
. -

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. BERERERE (&)

B EER
AEEEmEEAREERER
SR mERER o

(f)  Fair value estimation fH 2REME
()  Fair value hierarchy iy 2DREER
This section explains the judgements and estimates REFR A E R B R EK P
made in determining the fair values of the financial BRAREBEARGENEH
instruments that are recognised and measured at TE®MRQREDHE R
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an e ABHEBEAABEA
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in WASBBNAEEEREZ
determining fair value, the Group has classified its AEBBEETEIBHES
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed MTEDRB=EEH -
under the accounting standards.
2023 2022
—EC=HF B F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HaE ARKET T ARETTT
Level 3 Recurring fair value EoERREM
measurements AREGTTE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARERT ABRE
TREE 26 90,608 263,074

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year. For
transfers in and out of level 3 measurements see (ii)
below.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
of the year.

RER - BEEARLETE
BE-—RE_EBHzEHES
BF-EAGEEARE
o &R 32 (i) ©

KEBHRABNRERERR
AREEBREENSE A RE D
HFE o

EMEEEREECEERHBERAH
—T - = FFIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

AEr—F—

S AS AU

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

(f)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the end of the year. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation
techniques which maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity
securities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 41. BIERERERE (&)

()  Fair value estimation (continued) H 2DAREMETGE)
(i) Fair value measurements using significant (i) FAEEAAHERAE
unobservable inputs (level 3) FEARBE(EZER)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 TREVINRFEAE=EHT
instruments for the year: B
2023 2022
—E=HF —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR AR¥ETT

Opening balance FHEERR 263,074 176,533
Acquisitions Wl 170,000 300,000
Disposals HE (343,074) (216,533)
Net gain on financial assets at FVTPL BARER AEEA

B RELEER RS 608 3,074
Closing balance FRER 90,608 263,074
The above instruments included in level 3 represent EXE=ELAMBRENTA
wealth management products, both principal and non- R R RE R IT IR
principal guaranteed, issued by financial institution in Em BERARIERE
the PRC which was classified as financial assets at ZETEANBERIERAIER
FVTPL. ANBHHNSREE °
There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 RERN - F—ER  F[E
during the year. B E = [E AR A e o
The key unobservable input is the expected annualised FTETAEBEERARIE A
return rate of the financial product, ranging from Bh i 1S 72 T /O 32 B = B TR AP
2.5% to 3.25% per annum (2022: 0.75% to 4.0% per FloamE - BFR25%E
annum), which is determined by the financial institution. 32% (T __F : BF

0.75%%4.0%) ©

(i)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried (i) MIFBRAABEIENESHE
at other than fair value EREENAARE
All financial instruments measured at other than fair RIBEZ_=FR_ZT -
value are carried at cost or amortised cost that were +=—A=+—8 " FTEILIHF
not materially different from their fair values as at 31 EARBEFENSRTAEY
December 2023 and 2022. REEAABETEEAZR

RS Bl 8 SR ARG 1) B o

EMEEEREACEERHDERAR 121
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+_A=1+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 42. eRiEERSRIBERERE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY DHBE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial REBR-_ZE_=FR-_T__F+=
liabilities as recognised at 31 December 2023 and 2022 may be A=+—HFERNeHEEREHE
categorised as follows: B BREERME T XX Pl T A 48 -
2023 2022
—EC-=F —EF -4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR AR¥ETT

Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABRNEREE 90,608 263,074
Financial assets measured at amortised cost A SE AT ERN S RIEE 937,003 866,856
1,027,611 1,129,930
Loan and receivables (including cash and EXRREWFIE(EFERER
cash equivalent) HEEEY)
Trade receivables JEUNE 5 BRFX 268,327 282,806
Other receivables E b U IR 168,458 304,870
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREeEEY 352,137 113,601
Less: Prepayment B TR IR (2,469) (15,925)
786,453 685,352
Financial liabilities SRIBE
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  IZ# SR AT EM SR A&
Bank borrowings RITHENK 80,000 =
Trade payables FER B SR 70,582 65,685
Other payables and accruals EAth e 5RIA K EET & A 552,833 526,414
Dividend payable FERTRR B 35,389 38,934
Loan from government authority TR E R 400 400
739,204 631,433
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—F =1t _A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UAREZT)

43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 43. REEBEENABEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TR AEEREEHEENAES
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash G ERRERIReEH - @E
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for EHEEANABRELERNAEEREEH
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the ERERFTOEARETHESREN
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from REMEFFHEUDEHARRFEERE ©

financing activities.

Loan from
Bank  government Dividend
borrowings authority payable Total
BITER BUTHEER ERRE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETFTT
(Note 34) (Note 33) (Note 14)

(Ba£34) (K17£33) (Hfaz14)

At 1 January 2022 RN-—ZT -

—H—H - 400 32,136 32,536
Financing cash outflow BVE IR © R - - (28,218) (28,218)
Dividend declared ’KEEIR - - 35,016 35,016
At 31 December 2022 RZZE——F

+—A=+—H - 400 38,934 39,334
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%F

—H—H - 400 38,934 39,334
Financing cash inflows/ ~ BIERERA

(outflows) OftH) 80,000 - (283,670) (203,670)

Dividend declared REEIK - - 280,125 280,125
At 31 December 2023 R=T==%F

+=-—A=+—H 80,000 400 35,389 115,789
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
IFUBRE

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UARBZT)

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group ~ AEEfFEEEE T KEEXMIERE 2 BERE
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited — BIEGE 2 45 - EEMABERESH W T -
financial statements is set out below.

OPERATING RESULTS REXE

Year ended 31 December

BZ+-RA=t-HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—S-c=F === —E-— —E-FE “T-NE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETL ARETL ARETTL ARETTL
Revenue WA 841,545 841,586 705,456 622,250 645,885
Cost of sales HEMA (257,499) (193,551) (125,451) (91,512) (107,533)
Gross profit E7 \ 584,046 648,035 580,005 530,738 538,352
Other income and net gains AR zm
or losses BiEFE 64,092 59,736 51,616 48,370 37,970
Distribution and selling costs AERHERSY (341,938) (404,851) (360,717) (258,808) (336,217)
Administrative expenses G (107,371) (105,008) (93,287) (169,546) (64,691)
Profit from operations oyl 198,829 197,822 177,617 150,754 175,414
Finance costs BERKA (515) (477) (344) (713) (120)
Profit before income tax BRETS R A& A 198,314 197,345 177,273 150,041 175,294
Income tax expense FiERRAE (50,107) (3,780) (33,990) (23,483) (30,568)
Profit for the year attributable to FRARDAIFEEA
owners of the Company &1L s 148,207 193,565 143,283 126,558 144,726
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
As at 31 December
RT=A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC=E —E-— —E-—F —E°F —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT AREBTTT ARETTT
Bearer biological assets N EMEE 15,080 15,080 15,080 14,905 13,402
Property, plant and equipment 0% - BERRE 261,559 296,088 198,594 169,969 145,242
Investment properties REME 29,200 - - - -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 48,002 49,116 36,619 37,408 38,340
Construction in progress FEIR 4,904 = 147,857 124,305 74,061
Intangible assets EVEE 21 25 32 - -
Goodwil - 6,254 6,254 6,254
Financial assets measured at IABER RS ER)
amortised cost FRAE 724,157 211,405 776,494 648,519 -
Deferred tax assets EERBAE 28,506 27,396 1,510 1,510 1,510
Current assets REARE 1,201,141 1,767,477 889,873 807,887 1,398,922
Current liabilities MEEE (725,289) (714,594) (671,794) (415,435) (387,872)
Non-current liabilities =V (113,155) (45,949) (46,770) (43,586) (45,072)
Net assets BEFE 1,480,380 1,612,298 1,453,749 1,345,482 1,238,533
Share capital B 56,025 56,025 56,025 56,025 56,025
Reserves f 1,424,355 1,556,273 1,397,724 1,289,457 1,182,508
Total equity gk 1,480,380 1,612,298 1,453,749 1,345,482 1,238,533
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